
AGENDA

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

10.00 am TUESDAY, 30 APRIL 2019

COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, CARMARTHENSHIRE

PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE WILL BE A BRIEFING FOR MEMBERS 
OF THE COMMITTEE AT 9AM

1. Declarations of Interest  

2. Minutes of the Meeting held on 1 March 2019  (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Update from the Chair of the Joint Committee following the 
conclusion of the reviews on the Swansea Bay City Deal:  (Pages 
11 - 80)

 Life Science and Wellness Village at Delta Lakes – Governance 
and Public Procurement Review (Acuity Legal Limited):

 Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - WAO
 Swansea Bay City Deal Independent Review – Actica (UK and 

Welsh Government):
 Swansea Bay City Deal Internal Review of Governance 

Arrangements – Joint Internal Report by 4 constituent local 
authorities:

4. Response to recommendations made by the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee  (Pages 81 - 110)

5. To Receive the Forward Work Programme and to Determine the 
Frequency of meetings for 2019/20  (Pages 111 - 114)

6. Webcasting  (Pages 115 - 116)



S.Phillips
Chief Executive

Civic Centre
Port Talbot 24 April 2019

Committee Membership: 

Chairperson:

Vice 
Chairperson:

R.James

Councillors: A.Llewelyn, S.E.Freeguard, P.Downing, 
J.Curtice, M.Evans, J.Adams, T.Baron, 
G.Morgan, D.Price and J.Jones 



- 1 -

10319

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

(Committee Room 2, Civic Centre, Oystermouth Road, Swansea)

Members Present: 1 March, 2019

Chairperson: Councillor A.N.Woolcock

Councillors: A.Llewelyn, S.E.Freeguard, P.Downing, 
J.Curtice, J.Adams, T.Baron, G.Morgan, D.Price 
and Jones

Officers In 
Attendance

K.Jones, J.Davies and A.Manchipp

1. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 31 JANUARY, 2019

The Minutes of the meeting held on 31 January, 2019 were approved 
as an accurate record. 

2. CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO COUNCILLOR R.STEWART

The contents of the Chairman’s letter to the Chairman of the Joint 
Committee dated 15 February, 2019, were noted.

3. OVERVIEW OF ARRANGEMENTS TO SIGN OFF PROJECTS BY 
JOINT COMMITTEE PARTICULARLY THE REGIONAL PROJECTS 
- PRESENTATION

Members received a presentation by the Economic Development 
Manager of the City Deal Programme Office, on the mechanism for 
approval of the full business cases, as contained in the circulated 
report.  

It was noted that the 11 agreed projects were at different stages, with 
three projects having gone through the process but still awaiting 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



- 2 -

10319

United Kingdom and Welsh governments’ (UK/WG) approval.  The 
criteria for approval was in line with the Green Book of H.M.Treasury 
and Members were advised that experts within each government 
assessed each project.  Members felt that the process for approval 
was cumbersome as some two years since the Heads of Terms had 
been signed, no business case had been signed off. Members 
questioned whether the approval process was too complicated and 
as such holding up the Programme as a whole?  Did the Joint 
Agreement need reviewing?  This may possibly be addressed via one 
of the reviews being carried out.

Members asked for details around the Yr Egin project as this had 
been completed without UK/WG’s approval and were advised that the 
programme lead ie Trinity Saint David’s University was bearing the 
financial risk. 

In response the Economic Development Manager advised that the 
informal process, where the projects were considered by both 
governments prior to formal consideration by the Programme Board, 
etc., was resulting in numerous comments and versions of the three 
business cases submitted.  Members expressed concern that this 
was holding back progress in delivering the Programme overall.   

It was noted that some of the projects could be delivered without City 
Deal monies – and Members also asked whether the current projects 
could be changed.  It was noted that projects could be changed 
however, it was not possible to add any schemes at this stage that 
would be a call on City Deal funding as the available funding had 
been allocated. The Manager advised that there was a ‘flow chart’ 
that set out the process for adding to or substituting 
projects/programmes within the overall Deal and offered to attend a 
future meeting to explain the process.  Members noted that City Deal 
Funding was a catalyst for attracting private funding.

At the end of the informal process between the governments and the 
Regional Office, it was noted that the project would then be forwarded 
to the Economic Strategy Board and Programme Board before the 
Joint Committee was asked to approve submission to the two 
governments.  It was noted that there are regular meetings between 
both governments and the Regional Office, every three to four weeks.

The three projects currently with the UK/WG governments for 
approval had been with them since the start of December 2018.  

Page 4



- 3 -

10319

Members asked when the Programme Office anticipated the projects 
would be approved by the two governments and whether the five year 
deadline agreed by the Joint Committee for completion of all projects 
could be met and if not could there be an extension?

The Joint Scrutiny Committee was advised that the five year deadline 
had been agreed in order to allow enough time for the outputs of the 
projects to be realised and measured.  It was confirmed that the 11 
projects leads had confirmed that the five year deadline could be met.  

The second tranche, which consisted of four projects was well 
developed and would hopefully be submitted soon.

In relation to the various reviews being undertaken, Members asked 
when these would be reported to the Joint Committee and were 
advised that this would be at the meeting to be held on the 28 March, 
2019.

It was agreed that the Joint Scrutiny Committee would convey its 
concerns about the time taken to give approval to projects to the Joint 
Committee and the UK and Welsh Governments as theJoint Scrutiny 
Committee considered this to represent a significant risk to the 
delivery of the overall Programme within the agreed timescales.  

4. PRESENTATION ON THE SKILLS AND TALENT REGIONAL 
PROJECT

Committee received a presentation from Jane Lewis from 
Carmarthenshire County Council in relation to the Skills and Talent 
Regional Project.  The project was working in partnership to identify 
the skills and training needs for the region over the next 15 -20 years.  
The project was contained in the first tranche as it impacted on the 
other projects making up the programme.  New skills were vital to the 
delivery of the other projects within the Programme.  The project 
aimed at building Gross Value Added (GVA) and ground work had 
already begun. 

It was noted that, at present, the project sat under the Regional 
Learning and Skills Partnership for South West and Mid Wales and 
would transfer once the project had been approved. 

Page 5



- 4 -

10319

Members agreed that it was very important to improve skills, but 
asked how these would be retained in the region?  This would be 
difficult as pay rates varied throughout the country, with this region, in 
particular, being lower paid than most other areas.  In response the 
officer advised that it was hoped that the area’s lower cost of living 
together with the other benefits of living within the region would 
encourage people to stay and work within the region, using the skills 
developed through the project.  

Members were advised that the project was currently with UK/WG 
governments at the informal stage.

The committee asked whether there would be an initiative in place to 
prepare school leavers for work?  Would the project include 
vocational avenues in addition to academic routes.   It was noted that 
the project proposed to engage young people at a much earlier stage 
to ensure pupils had good information about the range of career 
opportunities available to them.It was considered that engagement at 
HE and FE level was too late.  

It was noted that the project was not able to access the Apprentice 
Levy.  

Members asked whether the project would be delivered within five 
years of approval of the project and not five years from signing of the 
Joint Agreement. Members considered this to be important as it was 
important that investment is effectively targeted and that the 
Programme should avoid creating a situation where there is pressure 
to spend significant sums of money quickly. When asked, Ms Lewis 
agreed that amenments of the timetable would be the better option. 
She advised that although background work had been carried out, the 
main costs of the project related to  the writing of relevant courses 
and getting these approved.  This would form the match funding 
referred to in the Business Case and which had already been agreed 
by the HE and FE bodies.

Members were pleased that agreement had been reached with the 
HE and FE bodies however, it was noted that austerity measures also 
extended to them.  Members also asked whether there were sufficient 
numbers of teaching staff available locally to carry out the project and 
were advised that teachers would also require upskilling in some 
areas. 

Page 6



- 5 -

10319

In relation to the levels of skills, it was noted that the Government 
wanted an increase in levels four - seven whilst the project would also 
focus on levels one - three which were likely to be school leavers and 
to then increase their levels through the different stages.

Members were keen to know whether similar projects were being 
looked at to benchmark the City Deal project againstbest practice and 
were pleased to note that this was being done.

It was agreed that a letter be sent to both the UK and Welsh 
Governments emphasising the need to build on the work of the City 
Deal after the 15 years.  In addition the Joint Committee should be 
asked to revisit its decision in relation to the implementation of 
projects within five years of the Joint Agreement and that the five year 
period commence once the projects were approved.    

5. PRESENTATION ON THE HOMES AS POWER STATIONS 
REGIONAL PROJECT

The Joint Scrutiny Committee received a presentation from Gareth 
Nutt the Director of Environment in Neath Port Talbot Council on the 
above project. 

Members were advised that the Full Business Case (minus the 
procurement stage) was submitted to both the UK and Welsh 
Governments in August 2018 under the informal part of the process.  
It was noted that all three regional projects were linked not only to 
each other but to the rest of the Programme as a whole.  The 
Registered Social Landlord (RSL) sector already supported the pilot 
project, thus the reasons for delay in obtaining UK/WG support for the 
project was unclear.

It was noted that once formal approval had been receivedit would be 
necessary to establish a Programme Team and a local supply chain. 
Members noted that thereis  no advance funding available to put 
these arrangements in place before formal approval by UK and WG 
and the release of funding.  It was estimated that 70% of the supply 
chain would be local.  Members asked whether there was sufficient 
capacity in the construction sector to deliver this project?  The link 
with the skills project was noted in addressing some of the issues.

Each of the four local authority areas had a project which could come 
under the Homes as Power Stations (HAPS) umbrella and approval 

Page 7



- 6 -

10319

of the project was therefore required as soon as possible to enable 
monitoring and evaluation of these schemes going forward.
 
The presentation outlined the numbers and costings associated with 
new build and retro fitting of existing properties. Members asked for 
details of how the figures were arrived at.  In response Mr Nutt 
advised that the figures were mainly estimates based on regional 
delivery costs.  The various Local Development Plans (LDP) 
allocations for new builds also fed into the proposals.  

It was confirmed that each individual authority’s scheme could 
continue without City Deal Funding, however, a co-ordinated 
approach would be the better option in order that best practice could 
be adopted throughout the City Deal area.  

The project was at the informal stage with both UK and Welsh 
Governments and it was noted that a response had been given to 
their last query in November 2018.

Members asked how long it would take to evaluate and implement 
the project and were advised that it would be five years after approval 
had been given, subject to staff being in place.  

In relation to the work to new builds, the additional costs would be 
passed on to the buyers – would this inhibit the project?  In response, 
Mr Nutt advised that as an example, the Principality Building Society 
was exploring the possibility of developing a mortgage product aimed 
at properties which had negligible fuel costs 
It was noted that there was an assumption that the four local 
authorities would use their collective leverage to deliver the project, 
however, Welsh Government should also be lobbied to put in place 
measures, for example building regulations, to secure greater private 
sector engagement.

It was agreed that the same issues applied to this project in relation 
to the time scale for implementation in that the project could be 
delivered five years after approval and the establishment of the 
Programme Team.  In addition it was agreed that a site visit to the 
pilot scheme in Neath be arranged when the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee was held in the Neath Port Talbot area. 

Page 8



- 7 -

10319

6. PRESENTATION ON THE DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
REGIONAL PROJECT

Members received a presentation from Mike Galvin - a consultant 
working on the Digital Infrastructure Regional Project.  The committee 
was advised that the original Heads of Terms which were enclosed 
with the agenda had been drawn up in March 2017 and had been 
amended significantly due to changes in government policy.  The 
Business Case was now being written to takeinto account mapping, 
coverage and economic need, etc.  The four local authorities met on 
a regular basis and had a good working relationship with the 
universities, mobile providers and health authorities.  Of the £55m 
allocated to the project, £25m was public money with the remaining 
£30m being private investment.   

It was confirmed that the project would require five years from the 
date of approval in order to establish the infrastructure.  There was 
frustration in the time taken as no money was being released to 
progress any of the research and development work required to 
prepare the Business Case.  Hopefully the first draft of the Business 
Case would be submitted shortly for consideration at the iterative 
(informal) stage with both the UK and Welsh Governments.  

Members were advised that recruitment for a Manager had started in 
November but had been put on hold when the governmental reviews 
had been commissioned.  Carmarthenshire County Council was 
bearing the associated risk and was paying for the Consultant and 
any associated revenue costs.  

Members asked whether this was a risk or opportunity for the private 
sector and noted that only three providers were interested in taking 
part in the project.  The Consultant advised in response that it would 
be necessary to encourage providers to take part in the project.  

Members asked what had changed from the initial vision of an 
Internet Coast and the related  transatlantic cable and were advised 
that the transatlantic link coming into this region was not the key 
competitive advantage that was initially thought – the Internet 
Exchange based in London was where the real competitive 
advantage lay.
 
It was noted that there was a resource problem in preparing and 
submitting the Business Case.

Page 9



- 8 -

10319

7. PROJECT UPDATES (VERBAL)

Members noted that there was no update in relation to this item.

8. UPDATED RISK REGISTER (VERBAL)

Members noted that there was no update to this item.

9. FINANCIAL MONITORING (VERBAL)

Members noted that there was no update to this item.

10. WORK PROGRAMME

Members discussed the work of the Joint Scrutiny Committee going 
forward and requested that the following issues be programmed into 
the Work Programme:-

 That meeting be convened on a bi monthly basis, on alternative 
months to the Joint Committee; 

 That the s151 Officer be asked to attend to discuss the financial 
issues surrounding the City Deal, including the financial risk 
attached to each of the projects and the City Deal Programme 
as a whole;

 That information be sought on the overall anticipated outcomes 
of the City Deal Programme;

 That the Joint Scrutiny Committee gives further consideration to 
inviting ministers/officials from both the UK and Welsh 
governments to attend a future meeting to discuss the 
mechanism for approval of City Deal Projects and why there is 
a hold up in approving the projects and releasing the funds.

CHAIRPERSON

Page 10



                                                                                                                  

1

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

20TH NOVEMBER 2018

UPDATE FROM THE CHAIR OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE 
FOLLOWING THE CONCLUSION OF THE REVIEWS ON THE 

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL

RECOMMENDATIONS/KEY DECISIONS

That the Joint Scrutiny Committee receive and note the Update from 
the Chair of the Joint Committee 

REASONS

In accordance with the decision taken by the Joint Scrutiny Committee

OFFICER CONTACT

Mrs Karen Jones 
Assistant Chief Executive & Chief 
Digital Officer – Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council 

Telephone 01639 763284
Email: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk

Page 11

Agenda Item 3

mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

January 2019 

LIFE SCIENCE AND WELLNESS VILLAGE 

AT DELTA LAKES 

GOVERNANCE AND PUBLIC PROCUREMENT REVIEW 

Acuity Legal Limited 

Page 13



2 

PART ONE: TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1. Acuity Legal has been asked by Carmarthenshire County Council (the Council), to undertake a

Governance and Public Procurement review in relation to the Llanelli Wellness Village Project

at Delta Lakes (the Project).

2. The terms of reference for the review involve a legal appraisal of the key mechanisms through

which the Council is protected in relation to the Project including:

2.1 the Council’s decision-making processes in the public procurement process in the light 

of the advice received 

2.2 the terms of the Collaboration Agreement with Sterling and Swansea University 

2.3  the Council’s actions since July 2018 under the processes established through the 

terms of the Collaboration Agreement 

 2.4 papers relating to the Project since the establishment of the Collaboration Board 

including the minutes of recent Collaboration Board meetings 

2.5 whether the Council followed robust governance processes in relation to the decision 

to terminate the Collaboration Agreement; and 

2.6 potential future options for financing the Project. 

The review excludes consideration of appropriate mechanisms to engage in future with private 

sector participants in a manner which is compliant with Public Procurement rules.

3. Acuity has been asked to conduct the review on the basis that it is a panel adviser to local

authorities in Wales under the National Procurement Service for Wales Legal Framework,

covering governance work. Acuity did not advise on the procurement process or on the

preparation of the Collaboration Agreement which form the bulk of the subject matter of the

review. This firm does have knowledge of the direction of the Project having recently been

asked by the Council to consider funding options and how best to regulate the future

engagement of the Council with third parties in the period following the signing of the

Collaboration Agreement between the Council, Swansea University (the University) and

Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited (Sterling)

Page 14



3 

4. In conducting the review, representatives of Acuity have spoken to senior officers at the Council

concerning the factual background. Our review incorporates information provided as a result of

those discussions and our conclusions are, in part, based on discussions with Council’s officers

and in part based on our review of the relevant material, in particular:

a. The Collaboration Agreement

b. The first draft Shareholders Agreement for the proposed property holding company at

Delta Lakes

c. The minutes of the three Collaboration Board meetings and one Shadow Board

meeting

d. Our initial Advice Note of August 2018; and

e. Procurement material referred to in the Appendix

    each of which is described in more detail in this Report. 

5. The report is prepared for the sole use by Council representatives and is not intended to be

relied on by any party other than the Council. It should remain confidential and not be disclosed

without our consent.

Page 15



4 

PART TWO: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

6. The Council engaged and ultimately selected the University and Sterling as preferred partners

following a competitive dialogue process, which is a thorough and robust method of selecting

partners for projects of the nature and complexity of the Project.

7. The documentation provided by the Council demonstrates that it followed due legal process in

the procurement and the award of the Collaboration Agreement to Sterling and the University

as a collective party.

8. The Project records show good governance and regard by the Council to risk management

9. The documentation provided shows that the Council has not given any binding legal

commitments to Sterling or the University which lock those parties into the Project, nor has it

transferred any land, made loans, offered cash consideration or formed any company or formal

joint venture, with either party.

10. The Council’s actions since the establishment of the Collaboration Agreement, as recorded in

minutes of Collaboration Board meetings and in the document itself, also reflect an approach

which incorporated many levels of Council control into the draft legal arrangements, including

appropriate veto rights and the creation of new corporate policies to ensure value for money

and compliance with local authority governance rules. This was done in keeping with external

legal advice.

11. The Council had several options available to it in relation to the Collaboration Agreement in

response to the recent suspensions of University staff. In order to protect the integrity of the

Project and the Council’s assets it chose to terminate the Collaboration Agreement in

accordance with clause 53, having sought legal advice on its options. The Council took account

of a range of relevant considerations when electing to terminate.  This is addressed in detail in

Part Six below (paragraphs 37 to 46).

12. Termination of the Collaboration Agreement does not prevent the Council from engaging with

third party participants (including Swansea University) in the future nor does the absence of

Sterling Health, in our opinion, have a material adverse effect on funding structures for the

Project. Indeed, it gives the Council a greater deal of control to structure finance in a way which

best fits its aspirations for the Project as referred to in more detail in Part Seven of this Report.

13. Through the period we have reviewed, the Council’s officers have, in our view, taken prudent

steps to manage the Project in a safe and well considered legal and financial environment.

Page 16



5 

14. in our view, there has been no misuse of, and no risk posed to, public funds.

Page 17



6 

PART THREE: REVIEW OF PUBLIC PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

15. Acuity has undertaken a detailed analysis of the procurement process undertaken by the 

Council which led to the Council entering into the Collaboration Agreement with Sterling and 

the University.

16. Our analysis is contained in the Appendix to this report and it should be read in conjunction 

with this remainder of the report.

17. In summary, the Council's project records are in good order and demonstrate that at all times 

the Council acted in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR) and 

followed appropriate processes, including the recognised competitive dialogue procedure. The 

Council acted with the benefit of advice provided by its experienced external lawyers, Blake 

Morgan as well as senior officers, including specifically the Council's Head of Law and 

Administration (who is also the Council's Monitoring Officer) and the Council's Director of 

Corporate Services (who is the Council's Section 151 Officer).

18. The Council's in-house team and external lawyers played a central role in the procurement, 

including attending meetings and workshops with Sterling and the University.  The Council's 

external lawyers chaired the dialogue meetings.

19. While it is not within the scope of this review to assess the merits of the bid by Sterling and the 

University it is worth noting that the Council considered that their bid had the following benefits:

a. Sterling brought with it the University as a co-partner which, in turn, brought significant 

financial strength, expertise, innovation and leverage from within the University’s 

resource and knowledge base

b. The concept of a wellness village ie co-locating various assisted living, wellness, 

rehabilitation and medical facilities, training facilities, housing and care accommodation 

is a concept which is attracting interest internationally and offers the potential for 

significant wellbeing benefits and cross border partnerships which could benefit the 

Council and derive many spin off benefits such as data analytics and better health 

outcomes

c. Sterling and the University had carried out preliminary work to engage with significant 

third party commercial entities eg Siemens, Pfizer, Fujitsu and other international 

companies who had the potential to bring added value 

Page 18



7 

d. The bid was informally supported by expressions of interest from private sector funding

institutions. Such funding, if formally locked in, could assist in satisfying the conditions

for attracting City Deal funding for the benefit of the local area.

20. In the light of these apparent benefits it does not appear unreasonable that the Council would

wish to engage with Sterling and the University under the terms of a well drafted legal

arrangement which preserved options for the Council, or indeed the ability to detach itself,

wholly or partly, from those parties if it wished to do so. The Council therefore took the decision

to proceed in a considered manner to an interim stage and an arrangement was drafted by the

Council’s external lawyers and signed in July 2018 as the “Collaboration Agreement”.

Page 19



8 

PART FOUR: TERMS OF THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT 

21. The Council has confirmed to us that the Collaboration Agreement represents the only legal 

agreement in place between the Council, Sterling and the University. It has formed the 

background to the engagement between the parties from July 2018 to December 2018.

22. In our view, the Collaboration Agreement weighted Project risks in the Council’s favour and did 

not expose the Council. In particular, the document:

a. reserved rights for the Council to progress alone with key phases of the Project if it so 

wished 

b. placed the onus on Sterling and the University to bring forward further detail in relation 

to other components of the Project for the Council’s approval before concrete 

commitments were made .

c. permitted the creation of a steering group to discuss development proposals in a 

streamlined and orderly fashion 

d. incorporated the right to trigger a notice forcing the parties to provide particulars of their 

offering or else face termination.

e. inserted termination provisions which could be (and indeed were) activated at the 

Councils sole discretion and without liability to the Council.

23. In so doing, the Council took sensible precautions against the risk of the other parties being 

unable to satisfy financial and development tests or bring forward robust proposals which 

satisfied the Council’s obligations to deliver best value from its assets and meet the 

requirements of its public procurement.

24. The Collaboration Agreement did not contain any legally binding commitments on the Council 

to transfer assets or value, or create formal joint venture commitments which could tie up public 

assets. In reality, the University and Sterling obtained little more than a right of first refusal right 

to bring forward proposals for certain phases of the Project for detailed consideration by the 

Council. It also provided for the creation of a joint steering group to look at the formation of joint 

arrangements, financing options and masterplanning work The agreement was capable of 

termination by the Council at any time. 

Page 20



9 

PART FIVE: COUNCIL DECISION MAKING FOLLOWING THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT 

25. A steering group was established under the Collaboration Agreement. Monthly meetings 

took place, the meetings of which were chaired, well attended and minuted. Minutes were 

subsequently circulated and settled at the following meeting. Conflicts of interest were asked 

to be declared.

26. Copies of the minutes of the meetings to date (a Shadow Board meeting dated 29 June and 

then Collaboration Board Meetings of 3 September, 17 October and 15 November 2018) show 

that good governance of the Project was a key consideration.

27. Significant activity took place around those meetings to formulate a detailed Project strategy. 

Discussions also took place with prospective occupiers of elements of the Wellness Village 

(principally the University Human Health department and Medical School and Hywel Dda 

University Health Board)

28. Work was also undertaken by the Council, both internally and reviewed by an external advisor, 

1971 Limited, to undertake high level financial modelling for each phase of the Project to form 

part of a comprehensive business plan. Detailed spreadsheets were prepared which took 

account of likely funding options and revenue streams. Such work was commissioned directly 

by the Council in response to concerns that Sterling were not undertaking such work within the 

required timescales and in order to ensure that the Council’s position would be protected in any 

subsequent funding discussions.

29. Work also began to define the architectural and engineering inputs into the planning phase of 

the Project. Arup was appointed in relation to this work pursuant to a framework agreement that 

the Council was able to use. The Council was described in the documentation as the 

commissioning body, thereby retaining full control of the intellectual property rights in design 

and planning work (with such rights not being transferred to Sterling or the University). The 

appointment of Arup was prepared by this firm in accordance with the documentation 

requirements of the procurement framework which the Council had selected. The Council took 

on responsibility for bearing the costs of the Arup engagement on the basis that it retained all 

rights to the benefit of such work and retained full ownership of the land at that point.

30. Although design and planning work has been undertaken by Arup, no construction contracts 

have been awarded in relation to the Project. 

Page 21



10 

31. A key intention of the Collaboration Agreement was to progress work towards the formation of 

a “Wellness Company” and “Project Vehicles” into which the Council could potentially transfer 

land to enable the Project to be developed through special purpose vehicles without direct legal 

exposure to the Council. These legal entities would also have enabled the wider development 

of the concept of a “wellness village” in other localities outside of Wales, from which the Council 

could have, and hoped to, retain an equity financial interest without the need for direct 

involvement.

32. Discussions at Board level took place under the Collaboration Agreement to start to prepare 

legal documentation for the formation of an asset holding Project Vehicle in October 2018 in 

accordance with legal advice. However:

a. No land transfers have taken place and therefore the site remains in the ownership of 

the Council under the terms of a joint venture with Welsh Ministers, with no legal 

commitment to make any transfers;

b. No Project Vehicles were established as the proposals were in draft stage in the period 

prior to termination of the Collaboration Agreement and therefore the Council has not 

issued shares to a third party and is not obliged to do so;

c. The draft agreement was prepared and circulated for the creation of a property 

development vehicle, this did not get beyond first draft stage and therefore it is not 

legally binding.

d. The draft agreement incorporated provisions that:

i. New companies would have to be established (ie not adopting any existing 

Sterling companies) (see definition of “Company) with only a limited number of 

directors from each representative entity (two each)

ii. Veto mechanisms for the Council and University would be incorporated into 

the documentation to guard against any concerns that the private sector 

participant could take decisions which were not in the interests of the Council

iii. Processes were built into the documents to enable the Council to take security 

over the project company if it were ever asked to contribute value (eg land, 

funding or guarantees) which was disproportionate to its shareholding (to be 

treated as loans on which market rates of interest would accrue) 

Page 22



11 

iv. The draft contained protections against fraud and anti-corruption, requirements

of transparency together with significant warranties and undertakings from the 

Sterling and the University in favour of the Council

33. It should be emphasised that the draft agreement would have been further refined through 

discussion and negotiation between the three shareholders and their respective legal advisers 

and additional protections incorporated if necessary

34. The minutes of Collaboration Board meetings show that the Council were also anticipating the 

following documents to accompany the formation of a Project Vehicle:

a. Detailed Business Plans and financial models were to be prepared to define the 

parameters of the Project

b. A “procurement strategy” was to be documented (which this firm has been instructed 

to prepare following the November Collaboration Board meeting) so as to govern 

engagement with third parties in a manner which satisfied governance requirements of 

the Council (as a local authority) and University (as a charity) – and which was intended 

also to ensure Sterling’s dialogue with third parties was carried out in a regulated and 

transparent manner;

c. Risk register, insurances and quality assurance policies were to be established in 

conjunction with the proposed Business Plan, in each case to mirror examples of good 

governance in other local authority- controlled trading companies

35. It is noted from the Minutes that the Council expected both the University and Sterling to seek 

independent legal advice on the terms of any agreement. Such advice would have included the 

identity of shareholders and directors proposed by the University and Sterling which would have 

to be negotiated and agreed by all parties transparently.  Accordingly, all parties were intending 

to have the opportunity to have independent scrutiny of the documents and make their 

proposals as to how shareholding structures would be set up. The Council also reserved its 

position to seek separate approvals from its Executive Board prior to concluding any legally 

binding commitments.

36. Our recent discussions with Council officers have disclosed that during the course of its 

engagement with Sterling under the Collaboration Agreement, it became apparent to officers 

that Sterling developed unrealistic expectations concerning the Project outcomes and funding 

structures. It also relied excessively on the Council and University to drive key elements of the 

Project (notably the preparation of financial models and procurement strategies for each phase 

Page 23



12 

and the adaptation and refinement of elements such as rehabilitation and extra care. In our 

view, the mechanisms introduced into the process by the Council (and referred to above) 

showed an appreciation of these issues and were designed to protect the Council (and 

University) from associated risks and ensure their behaviour was properly regulated from a 

governance perspective. 

37. Therefore, the Council had taken steps throughout the process to ensure high standards of

governance and risk management were incorporated into the documentation which was being

prepared so as to manage all future legal arrangements. The Council’s implementation of the

Collaboration Agreement in our view protected the Council from foreseeable economic risks of

the Project. The next phase of documentation (specifically shareholder relationships) were

intended also to guard the Council against failure of other parties to perform adequately in

relation to the Project.

Page 24



13 

PART SIX: DECISIONS CONCERNING TERMINATION 

38. At the stage of considering whether or not to terminate the Council had not received any detail 

concerning staff suspensions at the University. This report does not intend to comment on those 

suspensions or speculate as to the outcome of the University’s internal review as the review is 

still incomplete as far as we are aware.

39. As the suspensions involved individuals with links to the Project, the Council considered that it 

needed to take swift and appropriate action to protect itself and the Project. It considered a 

range of options, principally:

a. Await the outcome of the University investigation and take a view on the impact when 

it concluded (Wait and See Option)

b. Serve an interim notice under the Collaboration Agreement indicating an intention to 

progress the core elements of the scheme alone (particularly the Community Health 

Hub and Wellness Centre) and put on hold the remaining elements until further details 

were known (Partial Pause Option)

c. Serve 6 months’ notice to terminate the Collaboration Agreement and cease 

discussions with Sterling, but leave open the potential of dialogue with the 

University in its capacity as occupier of the Community Health Hub (Interim 
Termination Option)

d. Serve an immediate notice ending the agreement “forthwith” alleging breach of the 

Agreement (Breach Termination Option)

40. The drafting of the Collaboration Agreement did not permit the Council to terminate the 

relationship with respect to one party only (Sterling or the University) and leave the other in 

place. Any notice to terminate therefore had the effect of ending the entire agreement.

41. When considering termination options, the Council were aware that termination of the 

Collaboration Agreement did not necessarily preclude the Council from continuing its dialogue 

with the University, both as a prospective occupier of the Community Health Hub and potentially 

more widely following proper re-engagement. Indeed, the competitive dialogue documentation 

issued by the Council made it clear that the University had a key contributory role which logically 

can apply whether or not the Collaboration Agreement was in place. 

Page 25



14 

42. In making any decision from available options, the key factors which were relevant and

available to the Council for consideration were:

a. giving assurance to Council members that a robust stance was being taken which

protected the Council;

b. Preserving the ability to attract City Deal funding from Welsh Government/UK Treasury

and complying with the conditions attached to that funding;

c. retaining the valuable support that had been offered to that point by Swansea University

in relation to matters such as human health, medical school, training and digital

platforms as occupier of the Community Health Hub;

d. The Council being confident that it could obtain finance for the wider Project from

private sector sources so as to match fund City Deal contributions appropriately;

e. project timeframes, particularly as work on master-planning had already been

commissioned and was underway and there was a requirement from Hywel Dda

University Health Board that any elements of the Project which they were contributing

to within the Community Health Hub were delivered in a timely and transparent fashion

so that care packages could be commissioned at the right time; and

f. Whether the University would conclude its internal reviews quickly.

43. The Council discounted the Breach Termination Option having taken legal advice. Without full

and proper information regarding the outcome of the investigation by the University it could

have risked disputes with the other parties if it were to allege a breach. Risking such a dispute

would have been unnecessary given the alternative options available to the Council.

44. The Council also considered that it could not adopt the Wait and See Option. The timeframes

for conclusion of the University review were uncertain as the suspensions were being contested

publicly the fact that a full investigation was frequently a time-consuming exercise in the light of

the University’s charter, policies and Charities Act obligations Therefore a Wait and See Option

would deprive the Council of the ability to reassure its members and the public that it was acting

swiftly and responsibly.

45. The Partial Pause Option would, in effect, have kept the Collaboration Agreement alive but

extracted from it two core phases, the Community Health Hub and Wellness Centre. These

phases were so integral to the overall success of the Project that they would have deprived the

Page 26



15 

other parties of any real input in the Project for years. It would also have been difficult to engage 

partially with the University without also dealing with Sterling (or vice versa) while the Steering 

Group was intact for remaining phases. The uncertainty would also possibly be perceived as 

insufficient action to reassure the Council and other stakeholders such as Welsh Government 

and UK Government.   

46. The Interim Termination Option was selected for the following reasons:

a. It allowed the Council to take swift and decisive action to preserve the integrity of the 

Project and try to ensure City Deal funding remained in tact;

b. it offered a much cleaner method of terminating as it explicitly allows termination 

“without liability”;

c. it did not, in the view of the Council, prejudice private sector funding as the Council had 

commissioned its own financial modelling and this indicated that the funding would be 

primarily based around the Council’s involvement and commitment;

d. it enabled the Council to keep on track with the work already undertaken to satisfy 

Hywel Dda and planning application timeframes; and

e. it did not necessarily preclude re-engagement with the University (and indeed we 

understand that the Council has already indicated to the University that it wishes to re-

engage at an appropriate time and in an appropriate manner).

47. Our view is that the above were relevant factors and the Council gave appropriate weight to 

those factors in reaching its decision to serve an Interim Termination Notice. 

Page 27



16 

PART SEVEN: FUTURE FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS 

48. The Report does not consider precisely how future funding will be structured and the

appropriate procurement methodologies and this will be the subject of more detailed work in

future. However, there are certain observations we are able to make within the confines of the

terms of reference for this Report.

49. The potential to establish a corporate vehicle (which may be wholly owned by the Council) still

remains and has advantages in terms of offering security for funders and removing certain

contractual risks from the Council. This is commonly adopted by local authorities when

embarking on development projects.

50. Our understanding of the financial status of the Project and the modelling work undertaken to

date by the Council is that its fundability does not depend to any significant degree on Sterling.

While Sterling had made initial enquiries of institutional funders, it is commonly accepted that

institutional funders such as banks and pension funds will look to the Council (and any other

major public sector participants such as the University) as counterparties rather than Sterling,

whose balance sheet would be irrelevant to asset and/or covenant backed finance methods. In

contrast, the participation of an entity of the strength of the University and Hywel Dda, and also

a firm commitment to funding from the City Deal would be major positive factors in attracting

institutional private sector finance as well as additional support from corporate private sector

bodies in the healthcare sector

51. The modelling work which the Council has commissioned from 1971 Limited is consistent with

the work we have seen elsewhere in attracting institutional funding and should place the Council

in a strong position to determine the optimum funding structure and the types of funders, and

their terms, for most phases of the Project. This will be subject to future detailed scrutiny by the

Council’s finance team but in the presence of strong public sector support provides a solid

foundation to attract private sector funding.

52. It is possible that the Council may have to adopt multiple funding strategies for different

components of the Project. For example:

a. Seek new private sector investment alongside the Council in the form of risk capital

and then jointly appoint contractors following applicable procurement rules;

b. Seek debt finance from a bank on commercially competitive terms. This is likely to be

assisted by the injection of equity committed by the Council and City Deal;

Page 28



17 

c. consider “forward funding arrangements” with a pension fund to deliver 100% finance

as has been successfully delivered elsewhere in Wales for the core elements of the

Project;

d. Consider the issue of a bond to finance the Project (or parts of it) with an institutional

investor;

e. Consider funding with an overseas fund. We believe there is appetite for this given the

international interest in wellness led schemes and investment into the UK (irrespective

of Brexit outcomes) and a partnering approach with similar international schemes may

yield cost efficiencies or scaling opportunities as well as a better overall scheme; and

f. Consider disposal to an appropriate and highly experienced partner for those elements

of the scheme which are considered non-core (eg housing to a Registered Social

Landlord)

53. We will be reviewing these options in more detail with the Council. In our view, when assessing

such options, it will be important to determine the status of University and City Deal support

and best value in relation to the terms of the funding on offer.

54. Additionally, a key factor in determining funding strategy will be the interconnectivity of its

various elements, which work best when developed as part of an overall strategy rather than in

isolation. This will have an impact on the phasing of funding as well as in the creation of linked

elements such as public realm treatment. The fact that the Council has already, through its

work with Arup, secured an initial planning permission will assist with future private sector

funding as well as add to the value of the Delta Lakes site.

Acuity Legal Limited 

Page 29



18 

APPENDIX 

Public Procurement Review 

Page 30



 
 

Page 1 of 3 - Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - please contact us in Welsh or English / cysylltwch 
â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

 
Mark James CBE 
Chief Executive 
Carmarthenshire County Council 
County Hall 
Carmarthen 
SA31 1JP 

Reference: AMH/JE/NG 
Date issued: 21 February 2019 

Dear Mark 

Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village 
 
As you are aware, the Wales Audit Office recently undertook a review of the 
Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village project following concerns raised with 
us about its governance. The review sought assurance that the Council had sound 
governance and risk management arrangements in place, had complied with its 
own internal processes, and that it had ensured that public assets were protected. 
Our review was carried out under powers contained within section 17 of the Public 
Audit (Wales) Act 2004. 
 
The Council entered an Exclusivity Agreement with Kent Neuro Science on 
23 May 2016. This agreement did not require any significant checks or detailed 
process as it did not involve any financial liability for the Council. The agreement 
was for a 12-month period. As the Council decided to move forward to a 
competitive dialogue procurement process, the agreement was cancelled with the 
agreement of both parties on 7 February 2017.  
 
Following EU procurement rules, the Council then launched a procurement 
process on 18 March 2017 with the publication of a prior information notice. The 
Council appointed a leading law firm, with significant procurement experience, to 
support the procurement process and provide legal advice. 
 
Following assessing the responses to the prior information notice, the Council 
issued a pre-qualifying questionnaire (PQQ) on 10 July 2017. This resulted in one 
submission, led by Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited, that met all the 

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Cardiff / Caerdydd 

CF11 9LJ 
Tel / Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 

Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 
Textphone / Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru 
www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru 

Page 31

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Page 2 of 3 - Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch 
â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

PQQ requirements, including due diligence checks. The Council moved forward 
with a competitive dialogue process.   
 
Advice provided to the Council indicated that if it had not continued with the 
procurement at this stage they could have been subject to challenge as the bid 
received met all the PQQ requirements. 
 
As the competitive dialogue process continued, Sterling Health Securities 
Holdings Limited sought contributions from a range of other organisations listed in 
the original bid. Additionally, Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited sought 
and received support from Swansea University. 
 
At the point Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited introduced Swansea 
University staff to the dialogue sessions, the Council halted activity while they 
sought legal advice. Swansea University were also acting as advisors to the 
Council as a stakeholder in the project and, as such, a clear conflict of interest 
existed. Consequent to the legal advice, several declarations of interest were 
sought, and an information protocol between the University and the Council was 
developed to ensure that those supporting the bid were not party to any 
information relating to the assessment of the bid. In any event, with a single 
bidder, no competitive advantage would have been gained had information 
breached the procedures put in place. However, these measures created a 
separation between those supporting the bid and those supporting the Council. 
 
The competitive dialogue continued, and on 9 March 2018 the Council decided to 
offer a collaboration agreement to Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited and 
Swansea University. This agreement did not include the transfer of any asset or 
money to either Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited or Swansea 
University. The agreement gave the Council significant control and the ability to 
terminate the agreement in several ways should it need to.   
 
Throughout the procurement process the Council took appropriate legal advice 
and framed contracts/agreements to mitigate risk and to protect the Council and 
public funds. The Council has not paid any money to either Sterling Health 
Securities or Swansea University as part of the collaboration agreement. 
 
Decisions have been made by Executive Board and, where appropriate, by senior 
officers of the Council. The Council has operated within its constitution and 
scheme of delegation throughout the project timeline. Between decision points, 
Executive Board has received information updates and other less formal briefings.   
 

Page 32



Page 3 of 3 - Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch 
â ni’n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

Following the suspension of Swansea University staff with links to the Llanelli Life 
Science and Well-being Village, the Council considered it needed to take swift 
action to protect itself and the future of the project. Following legal advice, it 
invoked one of the termination clauses (clause 53) in the collaboration agreement 
with Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited and Swansea University. The 
Council gave six months’ notice of termination without liability. 
 
The Council now intends to develop the project itself. The cessation of the 
collaboration agreement does not preclude it from working with Swansea 
University or any other parties previously involved in the project in the future. 
 
As a result of our review, we have concluded that, to date, Carmarthenshire 
County Council has followed appropriate processes and effectively managed risk 
to protect public money in its activities relating to the Llanelli Life Science and 
Well-being Village. We will continue to monitor progress of this and other 
Swansea Bay City Deal projects. 

Yours sincerely 

 
Ann-Marie Harkin 
Engagement Director 
 
cc.  Huw Rees, Director  

Jeremy Evans, Performance Audit Manager 
Jason Garcia, Financial Audit Manager 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Swansea Bay City Deal Independent Review 

 

PC828D002 v1.0 

 

 

26th February 2019 

 

Page 35



Page 36



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page i 
  

Executive Summary 

Introduction 

In January 2019, Actica Consulting Ltd was commissioned jointly by the Welsh and UK Governments to 
undertake a rapid, independently led Review of the arrangements for the delivery of the £1.3bn Swansea 
Bay City Deal1 (SBCD).  The Review was to provide both the Welsh and UK Government Ministers with an 
assessment of the deliverability of the Deal. 

The Swansea Bay City Deal 

The Swansea Bay City Region is a critically important driver for the Welsh and UK economy.  It is a region 
with strong urban centres complemented by a wider rural landscape and a significant coastal footprint that 
has created a diverse economic profile with numerous opportunities and challenges.   

The City Deal aims to provide the region and its partners with the new ways of working and resources to 
unlock significant economic growth across the Swansea Bay City Region.  Both the Welsh and UK 
Governments have committed jointly to invest, subject to submission and approval of full business cases 
for the 11 constituent projects. This investment is also subject to agreement of governance arrangements 
for the Deal to support and further build on the Region’s strengths which include health, energy and 
manufacturing: underpinned by a world-class digital infrastructure, successful universities and innovative 
health boards. The Deal’s Heads of Terms - signed on 20th March 2017 by the Welsh Government, the UK 
Government and all 4 Regional Local Authorities - committed the Governments to jointly fund the Deal with 
£241M (£125.4M from Wales and £115.6M from UK) over 15 years to achieve 9,000 new jobs and a £1.8Bn 
uplift in Gross Value Added. The Local Authority and local partners from the private and public centre will 
also contribute funding.  The intention is that the total funds from all sources over the period will be of the 
order of £1.3Bn. 

Review Team Findings 

The Review Team are confident that both Governments are committed to the success of the City Deal.  We 
note also that Regional Partners are invested in delivering a portfolio of programmes in the spirit of the 
Heads of Terms outcomes.  We are convinced that the Swansea Bay City Deal will have a positive impact on 
the region.  We observe that within a healthy portfolio, programmes and projects will evolve and, in some 
cases, change radically to meet changing circumstances.  Some will succeed while others may not. It is our 
view that as issues of expertise and authoritative independent management are addressed, the relationship 
between all parties will mature, increasing collaboration and resulting in a slicker process with an increased 
focus on the delivery of outcomes at pace.  Commitment of funds in the short term is critical: both to give 
confidence to all parties and to ensure that the financial exposure of Local Authorities remains manageable.  
In the longer term the portfolio will grow stronger as the opportunities available to the City Deal are further 
explored. 

The report makes 7 recommendations to improve the deliverability of the Deal’s outcomes which are 
tabulated below. 

 

                                                             

1
 Contract Award C299/2018/2019 dated 10 January 2019: Contract to commence wef 14 January 2019. 

Page 37



  
  

 

Page ii  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

ID Recommendation Urgency 

1 

Pre-scrutiny should be encouraged but direct and regular 
face-to-face contact between those writing the Business 
Cases and those providing comment upon them and 
advising those who will grant approval is essential. 

Urgent 
by end March 2019  

2 

The Regional Office should be designated as a Portfolio 
Management Office, leavening their skills with 
experienced Portfolio/Programme/Project Management 
(P3M) specialists. 

Important 
by end June 2019 

3 

The City Team should (with the support of the Welsh 
Government Assurance Hub and IPA as necessary) put 
in place a best practice Integrated Assurance and 
Approval Plan (IAAP) for the Portfolio.  All parties should 
specifically consider the OGC Gateway™ Review 
process as a key part of that plan. 

Important 
by end March 2019 

4 

Under the chair of the JSC each SBCD board should 
consider the TORs and ways of working of each to 
ensure that they work as intended.  In doing so they 
should take account of this review and of the outcome of 
the audits currently being undertaken. 

Important 
by end March 2019 

 

5 

A Portfolio Director should be appointed before May 
2019 to ensure continuity of Swansea Bay City Deal 
leadership and independent authoritative advice to the 
Boards.   

Urgent 
by end April 2019 

6 
The SBCD should be managed as a Portfolio not as a 
set of predetermined and immutable projects. 

Important 
by end June 2019 

7 

For Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront, the two business 
cases which we consider are close to final approval, 
senior UK Government and Welsh Government and 
Local Authority officials should aim to reach a swift 
conclusion to ensure that funding can flow as needed. 

 

Immediate 

 
  

Page 38



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page iii 
  

Addressee 
 

 Name Date 

Prepared by Actica Consulting 

 
24/02/2019 

Delivered to UK and Welsh Governments 26/02/2019 

 
 

  

Page 39



  
  

 

Page iv  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

List of Contents 

Executive Summary i 

Addressee iii 

1 Introduction 1 
1.1 Scope of the Review 1 
1.2 Methodology and Approach 1 
1.3 Considerations 2 

2 Background to this Review 3 
2.1 The Swansea Bay City Region Deal 3 
2.2 Timeline 3 

3 Review Observations, Analysis, Key Findings and Recommendations 5 
3.1 Introduction 5 
3.2 Progress 5 
3.3 Project Approval Process – Governance and Assurance 6 
3.4 Swansea Bay City Deal Governance 9 
3.5 Swansea Bay City Deal Business Cases 11 
3.6 Swansea Bay Future Programme delivery capability 12 
3.7 Way Forward 13 

A Confidence in the Deliverability of Planned SBCD Outcomes 14 

  

Page 40



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page v 
  

  

INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Page 41



Page 42



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 1 
  

1 Introduction 

1.1 Scope of the Review 

1.1.1 In January 2019, Actica Consulting Ltd was commissioned jointly by the Welsh and UK 
Governments to undertake a rapid, independently led, joint Government Review of the 
arrangements for the delivery of the £1.3bn Swansea Bay City Deal.  The main focus of the 
review was: 

a. The alignment of the constituent projects to the overall strategic objectives of the City 
Deal, to ensure that the benefits can be realised. 

b. The overall risks to delivery of the City Deal, including the appropriateness and 
deliverability of the constituent projects, in particular focussing on those that have 
started their delivery lifecycle as the first tranche of projects.  

c. The interactions between the Joint Committee and City Deal governance structures with 
the regional governance structures to make recommendations on the provision of 
robust assurance.  

d. The overall due diligence practices in operation on the first tranche of projects and 
whether these have received the appropriate level of financial assurance. 

1.1.2 The Review was to deliver a joint report to both Governments within six working weeks, 
recognising a balance between urgency and comprehensiveness.    

1.1.3 The Review Team was asked to make any recommendations that would improve the 
deliverability of the outcomes of the Deal. 

1.1.4 It was noted that whilst the Review should provide specific recommendations for action, all 
final decisions would rest with Ministers or the Joint Committee as appropriate.  

1.1.5 Finally, the Review Team was informed that the development of the Business Cases, 
recommendation of any individual Business Case for release of funding or consideration of 
alternative projects was out of scope.  

1.2 Methodology and Approach 

1.2.1 The Review Team adopted a three-stage approach based on proven well established 
independent peer review techniques, consisting of Discovery, Analysis and Output phases.  

1.2.2 Discovery: A period of learning and engagement consisting of an Initiation meeting, pre-
reading of programme documentation and Interviews with Stakeholders. 

1.2.3 Analysis: A period of reflection on the findings of Discovery, cross-referencing the interview 
evidence with a thorough assessment of the documented processes and procedures to 
eliminate any biases or blind spots. This analysis was also to reflect upon the practical delivery 
of the programme outcomes and the governance. 

Page 43



  
  

 

Page 2  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

1.2.4 Output: The compilation of the findings and recommendations into a report based around the 
key questions laid out in the Terms of Reference, with the final report issued at Ministerial 
level. 

1.2.5 It is important to note that the final report is an evidence-based snapshot of the programmes’ 
status at the time of the review.  

1.3 Considerations 

1.3.1 The Review’s conclusions and recommendations need to be understood and taken within the 
context of its constrained scope and methodology and the limited due diligence possible in the 
available timescales.  Its Recommendations are graded ‘Immediate’ (do now), ‘Urgent’ (do 
by…), and ‘Important’ (do by…). To ensure focus we have limited the number of 
recommendations.  There are a number of incremental improvements and some implied 
recommendations within the report which we would expect the Portfolio Director and an 
appropriately experienced team to take forward as a matter of normal business. 

1.3.2 The Review Team would like to thank all of the stakeholders who attended for interview for 
their support and openness, which contributed to the Review Team’s understanding of the 
Programme and the outcome of this Review.  Particular thanks go to the Swansea Bay City 
Deal Regional Office Secretariat for managing the key logistics for the review and coordinating 
the Regional interview process.  

1.3.3 It is important to note that this report looks forward rather than back and focuses on the 
lessons learned (and hence actions that could be taken) by all parties to move the City Deal 
Forward. Suggestions for improvement by Stakeholders, reflecting their recent experience of 
the City Deal, have informed our recommendations.  

1.3.4 The Review Team would also like to make it clear that this is an independent and objective 
review, not an audit.  It does not, in any way, consider any implications arising from the recent 
publicity around the Life Science & Wellness Village programme, which is subject to internal 
audit by the University, the Local Authorities and to an external audit by the Wales Audit 
Office.  

  

Page 44



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 3 
  

2 Background to this Review   

2.1 The Swansea Bay City Region Deal 

2.1.1 The Swansea Bay City Region is a critically important driver for the Welsh and UK economy.  It 
is a region with strong urban centres complemented by a wider rural landscape and a 
significant coastal footprint that has created a diverse economic profile with numerous 
opportunities and challenges.   

2.1.2 This City Deal aims to provide the region and its partners with the new ways of working and 
resources to unlock significant economic growth across the Swansea Bay City Region.  It is a 
Deal where both Welsh and UK Governments have committed to jointly invest, subject to the 
submission and approval of full business cases in relation to the eleven identified projects and 
the agreement of governance arrangements for the deal. This is made up of £241 million of 
government funding which is intended to unlock other private and public sector funds on 
specific interventions which seek to support and further build on the region’s strengths which 
include health, energy and manufacturing sectors and are underpinned by a world-class digital 
infrastructure, successful universities and innovative health boards. The City Deal is structured 
around eleven project proposals, set against four themes, with major investment in the 
region’s digital infrastructure and workforce, skills and talent underpinning each. 

2.1.3 The Deal provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to economic growth 
through: developing higher value sectors and higher value employment opportunities to 
match; increasing the number of businesses within these sectors to widen the economic base; 
and improving the region’s Gross Value Add level against the UK average. 

2.1.4 As well as taking forward projects and programmes to drive economic growth, the City Deal 
commits local leaders and partners to implementing effective leadership across the City 
Region. In agreeing this deal, the four local authority leaders across the Swansea Bay City 
Region have agreed to create and have setup a regional Economic Strategy Board and a Joint 
Committee to oversee the delivery of this City Deal.  

2.1.5 Local partners within the Swansea Bay City Region estimate that this City Deal will lead to:  

a. Funding of nearly £1.3 billion for interventions to support economic growth;  

b. Over £600 million of direct private sector investment leveraged to deliver interventions;  

c. Investment spread across the whole of the region to ensure all localities and citizens can 
benefit; 

d. An overall increase to the economy of over 9,000 gross direct jobs; 

e. A contribution to regional GVA of £1.8 billion. 

2.2 Timeline  

2.2.1 Swansea Bay City Region Board published its vision document ‘An Internet Coast’ in February 
2016. Shortly afterwards the Welsh and UK Governments opened negotiations on a City Deal 
for the region in March 2016.  

2.2.2 On 20th March 2017 the Heads of Terms for the £1.3bn City Deal were signed.  This document 
provided the foundations for the City Deal and confirmed the joint commitment among the 

Page 45



  
  

 

Page 4  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

four local authorities and the Welsh and UK Governments to ensure full implementation of the 
Swansea Bay City Region City Deal. This was subject to funding conditions set by Government 
being met.  The Heads of Terms document also referenced a wider suite of control and 
governance documents, laying the foundations for the City Deal. 

2.2.3 Over the next 15 years, the City Deal aims to boost the local economy by £1.8bn.  It will be 
underpinned by £125.4m Welsh Government funding, £115.6m of UK Government funding, 
£396m from the four local authorities and other public sector bodies in the region together 
with £637m from the private sector.  

2.2.4 In July 2018, all four local authorities approved their Joint Committee Agreement. This legal 
agreement establishes the key governance structures such as the Joint Committee, the 
Economic Strategy Board and Scrutiny Committee and commits the four local authorities to 
work together over the 15 years of the Deal.  

2.2.5 The Regional Office was established using staff redeployed from Carmarthen County Council 
(CCC) to provide a secretariat function.  The Office also provide this function for CCC projects 
without the Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD).  

2.2.6 The provision of Government funding is subject to the agreement of governance arrangements 
for the Deal and the submission and approval of full business cases in relation to the eleven 
identified projects, as was set out in the Heads of Terms. To date none have been submitted 
formally. 

2.2.7 In January 2019, the rapid, independently led, joint Government Review of the arrangements 
for the delivery of the £1.3bn Swansea Bay City Deal was commissioned: the outcome of which 
is this report. 
  

Page 46



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 5 
  

3 Review Observations, Analysis, Key Findings and 
Recommendations  

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 This section summarises the Review Team’s Key Observations following stakeholder 
interviews, along with specific recommendations on how to move the programme forward.  

3.1.2 The Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD) Portfolio is currently faced with the following issues: 

a. A perception that the Portfolio is not making sufficient progress since the Heads of 
Terms were signed on 20th March 2017; 

b. Events have called into question governance and have led to wider concerns regarding 
assurance and confidence in the Region’s ability to deliver the anticipated outcomes; 

c. Local Authorities will incur, on programmes already started in good faith, unanticipated 
borrowing costs and greater restrictions on their borrowing next year if Government 
funding is not made available as expected.  

3.1.3 Consequently, both Governments, who remain committed to the success of the Deal, seek 
practical recommendations that may be implemented in the short/medium term. 

3.2 Progress  

3.2.1 The Review Team found that there is a view that progress of the SBCD has been unduly slow in 
comparison with other city deals in Wales.  Some have expressed a view that the Heads of 
Terms were perhaps immature compared to those agreed subsequently; others have argued 
that they were only ever meant to be a loose framework. We have heard that the signing of 
the Heads of Terms was preceded by volatility in the City Deal management team and this 
caused a hiatus post signing which impacted on the drawing up of the Joint Committee 
Agreement (JCA).  The construction of this deal is different from earlier city deals.  It is project-
based, with each project requiring the approval of both UK and Welsh Governments.  This 
additional approval level has added a level of due diligence and a demand for assurance which 
the SBCD has found difficult to supply and consequently the relationship between the City Deal 
and the two Governments has suffered.  We note that in later City Deals, certainly where they 
have been centred on one urban centre, quicker progress has been made.  

3.2.2 Since the Heads of Terms was signed by all parties on 20th March 2017 in Swansea, the 
participants in the City Deal (the four Local Authorities, the two Health Bodies, and two 
Universities) together with the two Governments have, under a JCA, set in place a Governance 
regime that is acceptable to them all.  This includes the establishment of the Regional 
committees - Joint Committee (JC), Economic Strategy Board (ESB) and Programme Board 
(PgBd) - and the appointment of individuals to key posts.  In parallel, the parties at the sub-
regional level were crafting the final shape of individual projects and obtaining a bespoke 
combination of various public and private funding streams: each of which requires negotiation 
with, and agreement by, individual bodies with their own approval process.  As the projects 
matured, the Local Authorities have been leading on the construction of a Business Case for 
each project that is acceptable to the Regional Committees and both Governments.   

Page 47



  
  

 

Page 6  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

3.2.3 The JC and ESB have met formally five times and three times respectively, with the last two 
meetings approving three of the eleven projects.  These projects still require the agreement of 
the two Governments and of the lead Local Authority.  

3.2.4 The Review Team considers that, whilst there might have been a desire to progress faster, it is 
understandable that four Local Authorities, working with two Universities and two Local 
Health Boards would spend 17 months setting up and staffing the SBCD management and 
financial structure. 

3.3 Project Approval Process – Governance and Assurance 

3.3.1 The process by which Business Cases are presented formally to the two Governments does, as 
mentioned above, appear to have presented all concerned with difficulties: particularly when 
the approval process was placed under severe pressure by the perceived need to gain approval 
urgently in order to release funds quickly.  

3.3.2 The presentation of a Five Case Business Case model - in line with HMT ‘Green Book’ 
guidance - to the two Governments is an implied requirement of this City Deal.  It is not clear 
to the Review Team when this became clear to the City Deal participants.  While the Local 
Authorities and the Regional Office are familiar with raising cases for European, Lottery and 
Welsh Government grant funding, the requirements of the ‘Five Case Model’ appear to have 
been less well understood.   

3.3.3 Concerns regarding the progress of business cases arose and led to a decision by the Welsh 
and UK Governments to supply training and support. This was we understand helpful, but we 
would argue there is no substitute for expertise and experience when drafting an appropriate 
case which is proportional to the scope and risk of the project.  The two Governments also 
offered to receive draft copies of the Business Cases for circulation to officials within their 
Departments before formal submission.  This pre-scrutiny approach is used by many Central 
and Devolved Government Departments to ensure a smooth path to the formal approval of a 
Business Case.   

3.3.4 In this situation it did not work well: there was a lack of understanding of the process at the 
Regional and sub region level who appear not to have had sufficient clarity and transparency 
regarding the approvals procedures to be followed between SBCD and Welsh/UK 
Governments. Some business cases were sent for pre-scrutiny through the Regional Office, 
whereas others were sent, out of process, direct from a Local Authority. We understand that 
on receipt by Welsh/UK Governments, the business cases were distributed to all those Groups 
or Departments with a policy interest. Comments received from those Departmental officials 
were collated and returned.  Because the formal response on the submission was made only 
when all officials had responded, the collated response sometimes took months to issue.  In 
one case the response took three months to return as an e-mailed matrix with a large number 
of comments reflecting individual opinions that did not appear to have been triaged, 
coordinated or prioritised.  This caused frustration and distrust. 

3.3.5 We understand that for other City deals in other regions of the UK there is a strong face-to-
face relationship between the Programme Management Office (PMO) and relevant projects 
teams from the Region with the UK Government Ministry of Housing, Communities and local 
Government (MHCLG) and tightly focused pre-scrutiny business cases meetings (‘Business Case 
Working Groups’) are a regular occurrence. This has not been the case with SBCD.  A few very 
large meetings between parties were held in the autumn but these did not seem to move the 

Page 48



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 7 
  

projects forward, leaving the Region and the project teams reliant on the emailed comments 
from individual policy areas. Some of the comments were along the lines of “it would be 
beneficial to the case if the connection was made to XYZ policy”. These were not fundamental 
to the strength of the Business Case: they served only to influence the quality of the text 
rather than addressing quantitative programme/project Cost, Time, Performance, and Risk 
issues.  The Review Team also observed that, while attention was focused on the main text of 
the business case, key annexes received less attention:  for example, the Review Team saw no 
evidence that a critical missing annex on Benefits Management was flagged.  Consequently 
‘final’ but incomplete Full Business Cases (FBCs) have been approved by the JC and formally 
submitted to the Approving authority.  This is not good practice, and has led to a position 
where the Business Cases lack important underpinning information regarding benefits, risk etc.  
We would expect that such information would inform the quantitative aspects of the Full 
Business Case. 

3.3.6 However, it is important to note that there were also some very pertinent and constructive 
points around financial treatment which should have been identified by the SBCD and 
addressed during an earlier stage in the normal course of business case development.  The 
projects should have been challenged by the Regional Office but they were not. This is we 
think a window to the source of the real problem - namely the nature of the Regional Office.  

3.3.7 Many consider the Regional Office to be Programme Management Office (PMO). It is not, it is 
primarily a Secretariat. It does not include Portfolio/Programme/Management (P3M) 
specialists.  This a major issue because it cannot operate as a centre of excellence with the 
opportunities to learn lessons for the portfolio as a whole, or provide Portfolio/Programme 
Management support and assurance (without recourse to external support), or give 
independent briefing to the City Deal Boards. As a result, the Regional Office is unable to fulfil 
the role that many assume it has. A combination of its inability to provide a regional tier of 
support advice and assurance combined with confusion over its role has been at the heart of 
much of the unease we have heard expressed regarding progress.  There needs to be an 
authoritative tier of assurance and support to the individual programmes and also to the 
decision-making boards. We believe that a reconstituted P3M office with strong professional 
and independent leadership is key to delivery. The regional organisation would require 
additional funding to offer full PMO services. As confidence is built this will satisfy much of the 
two governments need for assurance and the need for extensive government involvement in 
the detail will reduce. 

3.3.8 Expectations of the parties regarding the pre-scrutiny and actual scrutiny procedures were also 
different. This combined with a disjointed process led to misunderstandings, delay, frustration, 
and blame.  Pre-scrutiny is good practice but the process needs to be transparent, 
collaborative, and intelligently managed.   

3.3.9 In summary, the expectations of those providing the business cases for pre-scrutiny were not 
aligned with those receiving them. The attempt to solve the issue of a lack of expertise and 
experience at the Regional level by circulation of the business cases for comment by the 
Governments was not effective and probably could not be in the absence of a Regional PMO.   

3.3.10 Collaborative work is needed between the SBCD members and Welsh/UK Governments to 
improve the Approvals process and especially the value-add of pre-scrutiny activities. The 
Review Team understands responsibility for City Deals is being transferred to the Economy, 
Skills & Natural Resources Department under the Deputy Director in Welsh Government.  The 
Review Team supports the change as this moves responsibility from a policy-focused area into 

Page 49



  
  

 

Page 8  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

a delivery-focused area.  However, we do have a concern that this transfer, and the 
concomitant reorganisation, will be a distraction for the approval of two Business Cases that 
are very close to being finalised  

3.3.11 The desire to spend the Governments ‘in year funding’ for FY 2018/19, coupled with the need 
to ensure that time-sensitive European funding is ‘locked in’ to individual projects has placed a 
severe time pressure on the projects and the approval bodies.  Meetings of the Regional 
committees have taken place ‘back to back’ to maintain pace and incomplete business cases 
have been provided to the boards without prior circulation.  Boards were not given adequate 
time to read and understand the proposals adequately nor were they provided with 
independent expert advice on those cases.  They were therefore not in a position to provide a 
level of challenge which we would normally expect.  We also have a concern that such a 
detailed (but arm’s length) level of scrutiny by the two Governments sent the wrong message 
to the SBCD, giving the JC a licence to approve the business cases swiftly on the understanding 
that the two Governments were generally satisfied with them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3.12 The Review Team found no evidence that the City Deal has an Integrated Assurance and 
Approval Plan (IAAP).  This would be good practice. As would the application of the OGC 
Gateway™ Review process.  This internationally recognised process exists to provide 
Governments and Departments with external assurance, and has been used successfully by the 
Welsh Government on both its own and Local Authority major infrastructure projects (e.g. 
Vibrant and Viable Places, 21 Century schools) through its Assurance Hub.  However, the 
Review Team was unable to establish any evidence that it had been used anywhere within the 
SBCD portfolio to date.  Reviews can be organised by the Welsh Government Assurance Hub, 
ideally in line with an IAAP but if necessary, at relatively short notice. Amongst other things, 
this would provide the Welsh/UK Governments with an independent and objective Delivery 
Confidence Assessment per SBCD programme/project, or indeed of the SBCD portfolio overall.  
As a minimum the approach is valuable at key Approval points (such as OBC, FBC) but offers 
maximum benefits when used throughout the lifecycle.  Peer Reviews also offer the 
opportunity for those engaged on other more progressed City deals nationwide to share 
knowledge. We would see the responsibility for this lying with the Regional Office. 

  

Recommendation 1: Pre-scrutiny should be encouraged, but direct and regular face-to-face 
contact between those writing the Business Cases and those providing comment upon it 
and advising those who will grant approval is essential. (URGENT - by end March 2019) 

 

Recommendation 2: The Regional Office should be designated as a Portfolio Management 
Office, leavening their skills with experienced Portfolio/Programme/Project Management 
(P3M) specialists. (IMPORTANT by end June 2019) 

 

Page 50



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 9 
  

 

3.3.13   

Recommendation 3 The City Team should with the support of the Welsh Government 
Assurance Hub and IPA as necessary put in place a best practice Integrated Assurance and 
Approval Plan (IAAP) for the Portfolio.  All parties should specifically consider the OGC 
Gateway™ Review process as a key part of that plan. (IMPORTANT - by end March 2019) 
 

3.4 Swansea Bay City Deal Governance 

3.4.1 The Review Team notes that the recent governance concerns regarding the Life Science & 
Wellness Village programme have been addressed by all parties.  This issue has been given a 
high priority by the Region who assembled the Joint Scrutiny Committee in December 2018 
and have appointed an internal regional audit team with members from the four Local 
Authorities to investigate. The University is carrying out an investigation and the Welsh Audit 
Office has also initiated an inquiry.  We recognise that the restoration of public confidence 
may take some time. That said, the Review Team notes that the current publicity surrounds 
the alleged actions of individuals. As yet we have not heard evidence that these allegations 
undermine the business fundamentals of that particular project and certainly, we believe 
should not undermine delivery of SBCD outcomes as a whole.  We suggest that the 
implementation of the recommendations we make within this report, supplemented by any 
audit findings, should provide a basis for confidence in future governance.  

3.4.2 The ways of working of the committees are still evolving. We have discussed options with 
members but we do not feel it would be helpful at this stage for us to direct them to a 
solution - particularly with the results of the audit investigations awaited.  We have a view that 
for the efficient conduct of business, smaller committees are better than larger ones and that 
it would be best not to duplicate membership. We are concerned that the level of challenge 
within the City Deal is low, in particular that there is no incentive for members of the JC to 
robustly test each other’s proposals.  Where one committee advises another there should be 
time and space between those committees for that advice to be considered and discussed as 
needed. Furthermore, an approval audit trail is currently established through examination of 
the various approving committees’ meeting minutes.  It might be simpler and more 
transparent for each FBC to have an accompanying Approvals Sheet to be signed and dated by 
the authorised persons. 

3.4.3 Finally given the scarce resource of the ESB we believe that their time considering strategic 
issues should not be diluted by the detailed consideration of final business cases. Rather, their 
role should be focused, as we understand was originally intended, on identifying opportunities, 
and providing private sector insight and advice.  

  

Recommendation 4:  Under the chair of the JSC each SBCD board should consider the TORs 
and ways of working of each to ensure that they work as intended.  In doing so they should 
take account of this review and of the outcome of the audits currently being undertaken. 
(IMPORTANT - by end March 2019)  
 

Page 51



  
  

 

Page 10  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

3.4.4 It is our view that the appointment of an independent Portfolio Director (PfD) supported by a 
Regional Office will be better able than the current arrangements to support projects through 
a combination of advice and appropriate challenge and, importantly, ensuring that all 
committee members are well informed.  The CEO of Carmarthenshire is to retire in the 
summer of 2019.  Heavily involved in driving its inception and supporting it since, he has been 
highly prominent within SBCD for some years.  We suggest therefore that his departure 
provides an opportunity to appoint a PfD for the SBCD with equal status to the four Local 
Authority Chief Executives.  We suggest that the PfD should report to the JC and in turn be 
responsible for the Regional Office team (a PfMO in line with Recommendation 1 above).   The 
‘person specification’ for such a PfD would need to be carefully considered by the JC and the 
ESB.  Clearly, they would need solid P3M skills and a track record of delivering major public-
private programmes.  They would also need to be able to command respect in the Local 
Authorities, Central Government and the Private Sector alike.  

 

 

 

 

3.4.5 The SBCD is seen by many as a Programme containing a set of predetermined immutable 
projects with perhaps some synergistic relationships and dependences which taken together 
deliver an outcome (jobs/GVA).  This view carries the danger that projects agreed years ago 
may not offer the best prospects today (or tomorrow).  There is a danger of stagnation and 
missing out on new opportunities.  We would suggest that it is better to look at the SBCD as a 
portfolio with programmes (and projects) kept under review with funding switched to those 
considered most likely to deliver the agreed outcome(s).  In this scenario we would expect 
some individual programmes and projects to fall away as other more worthy programmes 
were identified and prioritised.  This is a healthy process. The ESB could play a key role in 
actively seeking and identifying new projects and supporting the SBCD team in evaluating 
respective benefits.  Overall, we believe that this approach offers the best chance to deliver 
the intended outcomes. We would also expect such competition to increase the level of robust 
challenge to business cases which would incidentally be beneficial in providing an increased 
level of due diligence and assurance.  The Heads of Terms allows for this approach but the 
opportunity has been downplayed. 

 
  

Recommendation 5: A Portfolio Director should be appointed before May 2019 to ensure 
continuity of Swansea Bay City Deal leadership and independent authoritative advice to the 
Boards.  (URGENT - by end April 2019) 

 

Recommendation 6: The SBCD should be managed as a Portfolio not as a set of 
predetermined and immutable projects. (IMPORTANT by end June 2019) 

 

Page 52



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 11 
  

3.5 Swansea Bay City Deal Business Cases 

3.5.1 There are two business cases Yr Egin (Creative Digital Cluster) and Swansea Waterfront where 
we detect the parties are close to an agreement. Having undertaken a deep-dive into their 
status, they are in our view broadly fit for purpose, have been approved by the Region and 
formally submitted to the Governments (although we understand that for reasons of 
(in)completeness they have been withdrawn and will be resubmitted).  

3.5.2 Our understanding of the current status of these two business cases is provided in the table 
below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5.3 For these two business cases, which we consider are close to agreement, senior UK 
Government and Welsh Government and LA officials with the authority to ‘do a deal’ should 
meet in one location and together with appropriate experts address any substantive issues 
aiming to reach a swift conclusion.  This meeting should be independently chaired and 
minuted by the Regional Organisation to both record agreements and take note of agreed 
actions, those individuals tasked and the required date recorded. The Accounting Officers’ 
responsibilities for financial regularity and commercial propriety need to be satisfied. 
However, we suggest that this could be achieved with careful and appropriate use of a 
caveated Approval (e.g. a phased funding release to award SBCD FY 2018/19’s and possibly 
some of FY 2019/20’s funding) on the proviso that SBCD work with the two Governments to 
instigate a good practice approach to, for example, benefits management, within a specified 
timeframe and to apply this learning to later Tranches of work. We would suggest that the 
absence of important but essentially technical components of Five Case Business Cases can be 
worked through jointly: particularly where the expertise and experience currently lie with 
Governments (such as the approach to monitoring benefits including sustainable job creation).  

ITEM YR EGIN FBC 
SWANSEA WATERFRONT 

FBC 

VERSION NUMBER V9.6 V18 

DATE 3 Aug 2018 28 Nov 18 

APPROVALS 
ESB Review 8 Nov 18 

PgBd Review 22 Nov 18 
JC Review 22 Nov 18 

ESB Review 8 Nov 18 
PgBd Review 22 Nov 18  

JC Review 22 Nov 18 

STRATEGIC CASE Complete Complete 

ECONOMIC CASE Complete Complete 

COMMERCIAL CASE Complete Complete 

FINANCIAL CASE Complete Complete 

MANAGEMENT CASE Complete Complete 

OPTIMISM BIAS 10% but a very round figure 10% but a very round figure 

RISK MANAGEMENT 
5x5 estimation but more 

qualitative than quantitative 
5x5 estimation but more 

qualitative than quantitative 

GENERAL COMPLETENESS 
Cross-references blank 

Missing template elements 
No IAAP 

No obvious blanks, but does 
not address all best practice 

aspects e.g. IAAP 

KEY MISSING APPENDICES 
Benefits Register - seen in 

Draft 
Benefits Register - not seen 

Page 53



  
  

 

Page 12  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

The release of funding in future might also be tied to delivering the recommendations of this 
report.  

3.5.4 In summary a collaborative approach should be applied in future to ensure that the intention 
of the Heads of Terms is upheld. If it is not possible to deliver some elements of otherwise 
viable business cases before the end of this financial year, immediate consideration should be 
given to a conditional release of funds. This would be concomitant on all parties working 
collaboratively to reach an agreed position on benefits modelling and monitoring.  

 

Recommendation 7: For Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront, the two business cases which we 
consider are close to final approval, senior UK Government and Welsh Government and 
Local Authority officials should aim to reach a swift conclusion to ensure that funding can 
flow as needed. (IMMEDIATE) 
 

 

 

3.5.5 Annex A specifically looks at the Review Teams assessment of the deliverability of the planned 
Swansea Bay City Deal Outcomes and the status of the 11 programmes and projects as a 
whole. 

3.6 Swansea Bay Future Programme delivery capability 

3.6.1 The majority of the stakeholders interviewed were enthusiastic about the SBCD and the 
opportunities it offers for the people in the area.  Governments remain solidly behind it.  
Notwithstanding our concerns, regarding the lack of PPM expertise and experience of the 
Regional Office mentioned above, the Review Team was struck by the high calibre of those 
people responsible for its successful delivery and in particular by those who are involved in its 
development and support without remuneration.  Equally, the Local Authorities and other 
public bodies in the SBCD area have demonstrated that they have the capability to deliver 
substantial projects: whether this be Local Authorities under the Government-led 21st Century 
Schools or Vibrant and Viable Places programmes; or locally driven schemes involving multiple 
sources of funding and interests.  Local Authorities are well-experienced in delivery of 
infrastructure projects. Health and Education institutions likewise have delivered major 
infrastructure schemes over many years.  Where they have less experience is in the 
programmatic aspects of long-term benefits management within the transformation 
programmes that such infrastructure projects enable.  This may be why benefits management 
appears to be presenting a problem for them. 

3.6.2 The Review Team considers that SBCD can, provided our recommendations are followed, 
deliver on the broad promises set out in the Heads of Terms in March 2017.  It is not possible 
to say whether these activities will deliver the full economic benefit aspired to and 
underpinned by the original economic model. The SBCD offers an opportunity to maintain 
partnership working in the region and expand upon it. There is an opportunity to stimulate the 
local economy and create sustainable jobs. The eight partners have a good track record of 
regeneration and building infrastructure and have the necessary capabilities to deliver it. The 
Government funding is not large but it is significant.  It is required to build confidence and to 
leverage private funding and collaboration. There are large benefits on offer for the people in 
the region although the specific value is yet to be confirmed.  

3.6.3 In order to deliver the intended benefits, the SBCD needs to keep its cohesion, which does face 
a number of risks. For example: a combination of concerns over funding and of the much-

Page 54



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 13 
  

publicised concerns on the Wellness Village could cause a loss of confidence within the Region; 
or the loss of a key Local Authority partner could prove severely damaging to confidence of 
non-public partners.  In this context, real progress must be demonstrated and we suggest that 
the time for exchange of emails and revised business cases has passed.  The approval of at 
least some projects this year is critical both financially and to build confidence. The financial 
risk to the two Governments is minimal because of the way the SBCD is structured and a 
failure to meet specified conditions can result in the withdrawal of funds.  Some Local 
Authorities are already financially exposed, having borrowed funds to commence projects at 
risk, while others could lose critical funding streams if the Government funding fails to 
materialise in a timely manner. The aim should therefore be to release funds in this financial 
year.   

3.7 Way Forward 

3.7.1 We have outlined above our key recommendations but here we summarise them in 
chronological order.  The most important is that the Regional Office be reconfigured as a 
P3MO with a strong and independent leadership. 

3.7.2 To demonstrate Government commitment in the short-term funding must be seen to flow. A 
way of achieving that while managing the issues and risks through collaboration must be 
found.   

3.7.3 In the medium term the parties to the agreement need to continue this collaboration. Greater 
delivery professionalism is needed at the Regional level to ensure that all parties speak the 
same language. To a large extent these two things go together. The Welsh Government have 
made an important start in reassigning the responsibility for City Deals in Wales to a delivery 
focused department.  The Region must step up likewise and ensure that the Regional Office 
has the authority, the experience and the expertise to broker a strong professional relationship 
with that department and the UKG’s MHCLG.   

3.7.4 Concerns over governance and assurance must be addressed.  We have made a number of 
proposals and these will need to be considered with the outcome of the various ongoing 
audits. All parties need to cooperate proactively to ensure that a process is developed and 
behaviours are such that all can have confidence in the Region’s ability to manage the 
substantial funds available to City Deal.  We believe that a reconstituted PfMO with strong 
professional and independent leadership is key to this because it will provide an authoritative 
tier of assurance and support to the individual programmes and to the decision-making 
boards. An IAAP will give structure to the assurance approach. As confidence is built this will 
satisfy much of the two Governments’ need for assurance and they can draw back from the 
detail. 

3.7.5 In the longer term the SBCD should seek to run the programmes within a portfolio and identify 
other programmes for it using the ESB as a fulcrum to lever positive benefits for the region.   

Page 55



  
  

 

Page 14  PC828D002 v1.0 
  

A Confidence in the Deliverability of Planned SBCD 
Outcomes 

A.1.1 This Annex specifically looks at the Review Team’s assessment of the deliverability of the 
planned Swansea Bay City Deal Outcomes as a whole. 

A.1.2 This assessment found that there is no clear Portfolio/Programme Mandate for the SBCD that 
identifies required outcomes, dependencies, timelines, constraints, risks etc.  The nearest 
available document to a Mandate is the Heads of Terms (signed by senior political leaders) that 
lists the SBCD’s 11 constituent projects and suggests that the anticipated SBCD investment 
(Central Government, Local Government, and Private Investment) would support the creation 
of over 9,000 additional jobs (i.e. 3% over the current 302,000) and contribute to increasing 
GVA by £1.8 billion.  The Heads of Terms further commits the Welsh/UK Governments to up to 
£241M of direct funding over 15 years but is silent regarding spend profile.   

A.1.3 Since the Heads of Terms new-job/GVA outcomes were based upon the SOBCs/OBCs available 
at the time, and in many cases nothing has changed regarding individual projects since then, it 
is difficult for the Review Team to gainsay it based on the available information.   

A.1.4 All parties were taking a significant strategic risk when the SBCD was launched without any 
Portfolio/Programme/Project Management (P3M) work having been done to establish the top-
level (top-down) plan, risks, issues, opportunities, benefits, resources etc.  Best practice, 
followed by a number of UK Government Departments and supported by the Infrastructure 
and Projects Authority (IPA), would be to carry out a formal strategic assessment bringing 
together those responsible for policy and those responsible for delivery.  This is especially 
critical when amongst the 11 projects there are 3 cross-cutting regional, notionally enabling 
projects: Digital Infrastructure, Skills & Talent and Homes as Power Stations.   

A.1.5 The Review Team has not seen the detailed economic models for each of the 11 Swansea Bay 
City Deal Region projects so is not in any position to comment on the Heads of Terms assertion 
(based on the 11 SOBCs/OBCs) that “The Swansea Bay City Region believes that this investment 
will support the creation of over 9,000 additional jobs and contribute to increasing GVA by £1.8 
billion”. 

A.1.6 An alternative approach to assessing deliverability is to adopt a bottom-up approach and use 
the IPA guidance on assessing Delivery Confidence against each of the 11 projects: assessing 
delivery against the four dimensions of Time (vs Plan), Cost (vs Budget), Benefits Delivery (i.e. 
Performance) and programmatic Process.  Such a detailed appreciation was not practical 
within the strict time-bounds of the review as each of the 11 projects approaching FBC 
approval would be subject to a separate 3-day Gateway™ 3 Review by a team of 3 people.   

A.1.7 The Review Team noted that all SOBCs/OBCs were very light on detailed planning, risk/issue 
management and benefits management; however, that would not be surprising at this early 
stage.  The FBCs seen during the week of the Review (Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront) had 
improved in this regard though were still immature regarding benefits management.  The 
Review Team has seen a Draft Benefits Register for Yr Egin which is a promising start, albeit 
clearly a work in progress.  The Review Team has not seen a Benefits Register for Swansea 
Waterfront. The optimism bias @ 10% looks more like a contingency figure than an HMT 
Green Book assessment. However, these projects (and certain other single Authority projects) 
were proceeding, despite the lack of promised Welsh/UK Governments funding, at Project 

Page 56



   
  

 

PC828D002 v1.0   Page 15 
  

Partner risk thus maintaining planned timelines albeit at increasing financial exposure via 
increased borrowing (incurring unbudgeted interest charges and concomitant cost risk).  
Overall, the Review Team considers that Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront would probably rate 
an ‘Amber’ DCA which is typical for an infrastructure-enabled economic transformation 
programme at the FBC stage of evolution. The balance of projects would be Red. 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Swansea Bay City Deal 

Internal Review of  

Governance Arrangements 

 

 

 

 

March 2019 

 
 

 

 

Internal Review Team:  

Pembrokeshire County Council (Lead & Report Author) 

Neath-Port Talbot County Borough Council 

Carmarthenshire County Council 

City & County of Swansea Council 

Page 59



Page | 2  
 

 

Executive Summary                                                                                                                     

1. Introduction & Background 

 
1.1 Political Context 

The UK Government’s Industrial Strategy identifies five Foundations and four Grand 

Challenges to ensure that the UK takes advantage of major global trends to improve 

productivity and the lives of people.   City Deals are one of the main vehicles for driving 

economic activity and growth within the UK and are aligned to the five foundations of the 

UK Government’s Industrial Strategy, they are specific to each Region and aim to build on 

the Region’s strengths.   

City Deals in Wales support Welsh Governments longer-term approach to Public Sector 

reform in Wales.  Public Sector partnership arrangements already exist on various footprints 

to support and improve the provision of services for Education and Social Services & 

Wellbeing.  The Heads of Terms signed by UK Government, Welsh Government and the 

Leaders of the four Local Authorities on 21 March 2017, commits the Swansea Bay City 

Region to working in partnership with Welsh Government to deliver local government 

service reforms that will see a number of strategic functions delivered at the regional level.  

The Joint Committee is required to keep under review the arrangements for discharging 

local authority functions that might be mandated to be exercised regionally (e.g. land use 

planning, transport planning and economic development). 

Existing and future Government regeneration funding is expected to be based on a regional 

working approach.  A key feature of the Welsh Governments Targeted Regeneration 

Investment Programme, which has been available to Local Authorities since April 2018, is 

the identification of projects through regional working.  The proposed UK Shared Prosperity 

Fund is likely to award funding on the same basis.  

 

1.2 Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD) 

The theme of the SBCD is the Internet Coast.  There are four sub-themes, which are aligned 

to the UK’s Industrial Strategy. 

The Swansea Bay City Region covers Carmarthenshire, Swansea, Neath Port Talbot and 

Pembrokeshire.  The SBCD is a partnership between the four Local Authorities, Local Health 

Boards, Universities and UK Government (UK) and Welsh Government (WG). 

The four Local Authorities approved the Joint Committee Agreement (JCA) in July 2018 with 

the first meeting of the Joint Committee held on 31 August 2018.  Prior to this and since 

2016, the Joint Committee and Programme Board operated in shadow.  In addition to the 

four Local Authorities, membership of the Joint Committee includes Swansea University, 

University of Wales Trinity St Davids, Hywel Dda University Health Board and Abertawe Bro 

Page 60



Page | 3  
 

Morgannwg University Health Board.  In shadow form, the Joint Committee focused on 

drafting the JCA, business plan development and negotiation with WG on interventions and 

enabling actions to assist with delivery of the SBCD. 

Eleven projects, representing a £1.274 Bn investment, are expected to be completed within 

five years to secure maximum benefit for the Region.  Government funding represents 

£241m (19%) of the overall investment and will be paid over fifteen years to the 

Accountable Body who will distribute to the partner Local Authorities on a yet to be agreed 

basis.  In order to deliver the SBCD Programme within five years, the four Local Authorities 

will need to finance the Government funding through their own capital (or prudential 

borrowing) or revenue funding, with payback over fifteen years. Investment of £396m (31%) 

is required from the Public Sector and £637m (50%) is required from Private Sector 

investment. 

 

2. Purpose, Scope & Methodology of the Internal Review 

As required by the Joint Committee, an Internal Review team made up of representatives 

from the four Local Authorities Internal Audit Services formed to undertake an internal 

review of the governance arrangements for the SBCD.  This followed the suspension of 

senior staff at Swansea University and potential links in relation to the Llanelli Life Science 

and Wellbeing Village project, which forms part of the SBCD. 

The purpose of the Internal Review is to provide assurance to the Joint Committee 

(including co-opted Members and the wider Partnership), and identify areas for 

improvement to ensure that the governance arrangements are robust and follow best 

practice. 

The Joint Committee approved the Terms of Reference for the Internal Review, which used 

the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016 as a 

basis for evaluating the effectiveness of the SBCD governance arrangements. 

The Internal Review of the SBCD governance arrangements was an evidence-based 

appraisal, which involved meetings or discussions with stakeholders, a review of supporting 

documentation and an evaluation of the effectiveness of governance arrangements against 

best practice.  

 

  

Page 61



Page | 4  
 

3. Summary of Key Findings 

 
3.1.  The investigation at Swansea University, its links with the Llanelli Life Science and 

Wellbeing Village project and its subsequent referral to the police is having a 
detrimental impact on partners within the SBCD and is eroding trust across the 
partnership. However, all parties within the Partnership are committed to the 
Partnership and the delivery of the Programme. 

3.2.  The statutory roles and the majority of principal roles and functions within the 
SBCD, as agreed within the JCA, are assigned to  Carmarthenshire County Council 
and should be more evenly distributed across the partnership. These  include  three 
Statutory Roles (Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer) 
and several supporting roles including Chair of the Programme Board (Lead Chief 
Executive), the Accountable Officer of the Regional Office function (Lead Chief 
Executive), and Internal Audit.  Only two appointments have been made to the 
Regional Office - this function is largely resourced by Carmarthenshire County 
Council’s staff, jointly funded by the SBCD partners in the sum of c£400k.  

3.3.  Paragraph 55 within the Heads of Terms agreement states: “If the City Deal is not 
delivered as set out in the implementation plan agreed by the Swansea Bay Joint 
Committee, the Welsh Government and UK Government, or if any of the 
commitments in this deal document are not fulfilled, the Governments will review 
and may halt the payment of any unpaid funding for this deal.” This could present a 
risk to the Programme for which there should be a contingency plan as 
recommended in the National Assembly for Wales Economy, Infrastructure and 
Skills Committee report on City Deals and the Regional Economies of Wales, 
November 2017. 

3.4.  At this early stage in the programme, there is a lack of  certainty over the funding  in 
terms of how some aspects of both private and public sector funding will be 
secured.   However, a  high level estimate of funding streams and costs for each of  
the eleven projects  is included within the draft Implementation Plan.   Confidence 
in where the funding will come from and  when it will be received is a priority as 
projects develop.   

3.5.  The expected level of borrowing per Local Authority has not been established at this 
point and this will have to be determined as a priority to ensure Local Authority 
commitment and assurance. Local Authority funding arrangements have not been 
resolved to date, but are likely to require multiple funding agreements between 
partners and the Accountable Body;  this may result in disproportionate effort and 
the most pragmatic methods need to be agreed promptly. 

3.6.  Interviewees stated that some of the local projects were planned and would have 
been prioritised at Local Authority level but were included in the SBCD to access 
funding.  The SBCD should be seen as a Programme of 11 related projects that 
deliver the vision of the Internet Coast on which SBCD was originally based.  
Reliance on  local policies and procedures along with approval and scrutiny of 
projects at a Local Authority level detracts from the regionality of the SBCD.   

3.7.  UK & WG have not approved the Implementation Plan.  In order to approve the 
Implementation Plan they require a Programme financial plan, an improved 
Programme risk register and agreed prioritisation of projects.  

Page 62



Page | 5  
 

3.8.  The iterative process requested by UK & WG to evaluate submitted emerging 
business cases  is not operating as intended, is undermining confidence in the SBCD 
governance arrangments and resulting in further bureacracy.  A review of the 
emerging business cases submitted under the iterative process and feedback from 
UK & WG identified that these business cases  are submitted prematurely.  Lack of 
clarity on the econcomic, commercial and financial cases persists.Business cases 
have been referred to Joint Committee for approval when a number of outstanding 
issues raised by Government Officers have not been resolved. The adopted iterative 
evaluation process was initially devised to prevent this. 

3.9.  The Regional Office is not delivering the SBCD Delivery Team function as expected 
by UK & WG.  This has resulted in UK & WG undertaking checks that were expected 
(by them) to be undertaken by the Regional Office. In the eyes of UK & WG, this is  
undermining confidence in the SBCD governance process.   

3.10.  The governance functions (in relation to project approvals) identified in the JCA are 
not operating as intended, however, they are being relied upon to provide 
assurance to the Joint Committee.  These functions must be strengthened. 

3.11.  Programme risk management is not effective.  The Programme Risk Register is not 
an up to date reflection of the risks to the Programme and is not considered by the 
Joint Committee.  Consideration hasn’t been given to the overall risk appetite for 
the SBCD and how an effective risk management methodology can be delivered 
across the Programme.  

 

  

Page 63



Page | 6  
 

4. Conclusion & Suggestions for Improvement 

In response to the summary of key findings arising from this review consideration should be 

given to the following: 

4.1.  Redistribution of roles and functions to ensure an equitable balance across the SBCD 
Partnership, each acting as a check and balance for the other. (refer to 3.1 and 3.2) 

4.2.  Appointment of an independent Programme Director, securing the independence of 
the Lead Officer responsible for the Regional Office with a direct reporting line to the 
Joint Committee.  The officer undertaking this role must be of sufficient seniority and 
capability to challenge and be challenged whilst remaining independent and 
objective.  To facilitate this, there should be separation between the roles of Head of 
Paid Service (employer) and Lead Chief Executive (Chair of the Programme Board). 
Reconsideration of the funding arrangement for the RO could enable the associated 
costs to be contained within existing commitments. (refer to 3.1 and 3.2 ) 

4.3.  The local approach to the delivery of the SBCD projects needs to take account of the 
interdependencies across the Programme.  Consideration should also be given to 
contingency plans if Government funding is withdrawn at a later date. (refer to 3.1, 
3.3, 3.5 and 3.6) 

4.4.  The Implementation Plan needs to be revised so that delivery of the projects is 
prioritised and approved by the Joint Committee.  The Implementation Plan should 
be supported by a clear Programme Financial Plan and Risk Register before being 
resubmitted to UK & WG for approval.  The Implementation Plan should form the 
basis for monitoring delivery of the Programme. (refer to 3.4 , 3.7 and 3.9) 

4.5.  The Joint Committee, as a conduit for regeneration of the Region, needs to further 
establish its own identity in terms of overarching standard operating principles, 
values and expected practice.  Key areas for consideration are highlighted within the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016 
for such a Partnership and include: 

 Agreed risk appetite of the Partnership 

 Agreed risk management methodology; 

 Establishing the ethical values and framework; 

 Counter fraud, corruption & bribery procedures;  

 Due diligence and anti-money laundering arrangements;  

 Programme/project management methodology; and 

 Overarching  record of declarations of interest and offers of gifts and 
hospitality by all Officers and Members. (refer to 3.1, 3.6 and 3.11) 

4.6.  If the iterative process continues to cause a bottleneck once standards have been 
addressed, then there should be an approach to UK & WG to reconsider the process 
to eliminate disproportionate effort by all parties and to ensure that focus is on the 
deliverability of outcomes and not only on the standard of written documents. The 
relationship between individual LA’s, project leads, the Regional Office and UK and 
WG’s should be recast to establish strict communication lines. Such communication is 
currently inconsistent and is clearly contributing to confusion and delay. (refer to 3.8) 

Page 64



Page | 7  
 

4.7.  The Programme Board, Economic Strategy Board (ESB) and Joint Committee should 
receive written assurance (in a format to be agreed) that each business case 
submitted for approval has been subject to the required checks and process as 
defined within the JCA, including approval by the Lead Local Authority. This should 
ensure that all comments from UK & WG have been addressed and concerns 
highlighted by the ESB have been fully considered.  There should be an evidence trail 
to ensure all parties are held accountable. (refer to 3.10) 

4.8.  The Regional Office, in its capacity as the SBCD Delivery Team should undertake 
detailed checks prior to entering into the iterative process or submitting to 
Programme Board and ESB, to ensure compliance with standard operating 
principles/values and provide an overview of the outcome of these checks, in order 
to provide independent assurance to the Programme Board and Joint Committee. 
(refer to 3.9) 

4.9.  Membership and remit of the Programme Board and ESB needs to be reconsidered: 
a. The Programme Board needs to undertake detailed analysis  of the 

financial viability, deliverability and risks to the project.  The Programme 
Board should have detailed knowledge of the business cases and the 
feedback from UK & Welsh Government to ensure that business cases are 
of the standard and quality to be submitted for approval to Joint 
Committee.  Current membership includes the Chief Executives of the four 
Local Authorities.  Consideration should be given to the most suitable level 
of Management to commit to Programme Board (possibly Director or 
appropriate Head of Service ), consideration should be given to the 
appearance of lead project officers to present the case. 

b. The ESB membership needs to be streamlined to enable a well functioning 
commercially minded appraisal function that is focused on identifying 
further opportunities for the Region and attracting inward investment.  
Current membership includes the Leaders of the four Local Authorities, 
which seems unnecessary given the ESB report to the Joint Committee. 
Consideration should be given to the membership of the ESB. There is an 
opportunity for the ESB to provide UK & WG with the confidence that is 
currently lacking around the commercial case; consideration could be 
given to including a summary report from the ESB with the Full Business 
Case submission. (refer to 3.10) 

 

  

Page 65



Page | 8  
 

 

Detailed Findings 

5. Overview of Good Governance Evaluation 

The Governance Arrangements for the Swansea Bay City Deal have been reviewed against 

the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framwework.  The 

diagram below illustrates the various principles of good governance in the public sector and 

how they relate to each other. 

Achieving Intended Outcomes While Acting in the Public Interest at all Times 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            

 

 

 

 

 

 

As the diagram demonstrates, the principles of good governance along with the behaviours 

and actions that demonstrate good governance are intertwined, but are based on the two 

fundamental principles: 

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law; 

B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

The detailed findings of the review are reported by exception and demonstrate the key 

issues arising and suggestions for how they can be resolved.  

Page 66



Page | 9  
 

6. Core Principle A 

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 
respecting the rule of law. 

Expected Actions & Behaviours: integrity; acting in the public interest; establishing & 
embedding values or standard operating principles; establishing, monitoring & 
maintaining agreed ethical values; commitment & adherence to rules and regulations; . 

Areas for Improvement: values or standard operating principles need to be identified; 
imbalance of power. 

 

Standard Operating Principles/Values 

There is a defined vision for the Region but the standard operating principles/values for the 

delivery of the SBCD programme have not been identified. Projects are classed as local or 

regional but the expected practice in delivering those projects is not explicit. The assumed 

position within the Partnership is that the policies and procedures of the Project Lead 

Authority will be adhered to and local projects will be subject to scrutiny by the constituent 

Authority.  There is no evidence that consideration has been given to the implications of this 

approach, or how the Joint Committee will be provided with assurance that all expected 

processes and procedures have been adhered to.    

The Joint Committee forward work plan includes approval of a few overarching documents 

for the Programme, but given that some projects are quite advanced and the Heads of 

Terms was signed two years ago, these are late in development.  

In addition to the overarching documents identified in the Joint Committee forward work 

programme for approval at future meetings, consideration should be given to developing 

the following:  

 Risk Appetite and Risk Management Methodology for the SBCD; 

 Ethical Framework – this is a high risk Programme and there needs to be clarity amongst 

the Partnership over acceptable ethical practice, especially around the procurement of 

private sector investment; 

 Counter Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Arrangements; 

 Due Diligence and Anti-Money Laundering Arrangements; 

 Programme & Project Management Methodology. 

A Co-opted Member Code of Conduct is in place and Local Authority Members and Officers 

are expected to adhere to their own Local Authority Code of Conduct.  The Regional Office 

holds co-opted Member declarations of interest, but there was no evidence of declarations 

of interest from all Local Authority Officers and Members. Other than holding and recording 

the declarations of interest, there was no evidence that there had been any verification or 

consideration of appropriateness by the Joint Committee.  

 

 

Page 67



Page | 10  
 

Balance of Functions & Responsibilities 

The Joint Committee Agreement places too much responsibility on Carmarthenshire County 

Council and the Lead Chief Executive.  It is expected that the Head of Paid Service as the 

employer of the Regional Office will be the Principal Adviser and Accountable Officer 

overseeing the work of the Regional Office, and as such will be the Lead Chief Executive. The 

Lead Chief Executive is also the Chair of the Programme Board.  

In addition, Carmarthenshire County Council also undertake the following roles: 

 As Accountable Body, the statutory role of Section 151 Officer and the provision of the 

Internal Audit service; 

 Monitoring Officer; 

 The statutory role of Head of Democratic Services is not defined within the JCA; 

however, Carmarthenshire County Council’s Head of Democratic Services provides 

support to the Joint Committee and Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council provides 

support to the Joint Scrutiny Committee; The Regional Office provides support to the 

Programme Board and the ESB. 

 

7. Core Principle B 

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

Expected Actions & Behaviours: open culture based on trust; shared commitment for 
change; acceptance or robust challenge; transparent decision-making; engagement and 
consultation with all stakeholders. 

Areas for Improvement: openness & transparency; creating a culture of trust and shared 
commitment; identifying and effectively engaging with stakeholders. 

 

Trust 

It was evident through meetings with stakeholders that there is insufficient trust within the 

Partnership.  This is attributable to a number of issues, which are expanded on in further 

detail within the report, however, the root causes are: 

 Imbalance of power within the Partnership due to distribution of key roles; 

 Lack of clarity from the JCA regarding expected practice (standard operating 

principles/values);  

 Lack of openness and transparency across the wider Partnership as projects are being 

treated as local rather than regional.  

Openness & Transparency 

The Joint Committee meetings and the Joint Scrutiny Committee meetings are the two 

public meetings within the SBCD governance process.   As identified within the Terms of 

Reference, the Joint Committee has ultimate responsibility and accountability for decisions 

taken in relation to the SBCD.  The format and conduct of the Joint Committee meetings was 

Page 68



Page | 11  
 

discussed with Members and Officers that attend the Joint Committee meetings, key 

observations include: 

 Verbal updates provided   

 Quick meetings which lack constructive debate and challenge  

 Failure to provide the Joint Committee with accurate updates  

 Lack of oversight of communications between the Regional Office and UK & WG  

 Suspicion that some Members know more information than others  

 Pre-meetings excluding the co-opted Members  

 Reports provided at short notice  

 Overload of information that cannot be effectively scrutinised prior to the meeting. 

Areas that may be of particular interest to the public, such as business cases, are considered 

in private session as there will be an element of commercial sensitivity.  However, the 

majority of the discussion could take place in open session as long as members of the Joint 

Committee observe the rules of debate and reserve questions leading to commercial 

sensitivity for private session discussions.  Consideration could also be given to webcasting 

these meetings to demonstrate the commitment to openness. 

At the meeting on 22 November 2018, three business cases were presented to the Joint 

Committee for approval for formal submission to UK & WG; however, evidence has been 

obtained that these business cases ought not to have been presented to the Joint 

Committee at that time based on the feedback from UK & WG (see Appendix B).  

Discussions with SBCD Representatives, WG Officers and Ministers had taken place the day 

before the Joint Committee meeting to discuss what was required in order to approve the 

three business cases. It is the opinion of the Internal Review team that the issues raised by 

UK & WG were reasonable requests for clarity to ensure that business cases are robust.  The 

Regional Office has since attempted to submit two amended business cases (21 December 

2018), however, these can’t be accepted by UK & WG until the original submissions are 

formally withdrawn and revised submissions approved by the Joint Committee.  A request 

has been made to UK & WG to ‘hold’ the Llanelli Life Science & Wellbeing Village project 

business case.  

Media attention over the staff suspensions at Swansea University and the links with Llanelli 

Life Science & Wellbeing Village project have identified a number of issues that the Joint 

Committee should have been aware of as they impact on the SBCD as a whole, including: 

 The links between Kent Neurosciences Limited and Sterling Health Security Holdings Ltd;  

 The role of Sterling Health Security Holdings Ltd and clarity that the company was not 

directly providing the private sector investment;  

 Links between the Llanelli Life Science Wellness Village project with other worldwide 

projects such as Kuwait;  

 UK & WG concerns that had not been resolved;  

 Declarations of interest and wider roles that current or former Officers and Members 

would have with this company and planned projects.  

Page 69



Page | 12  
 

The establishment of standard operating principles would have provided clarity to the wider 

partnership over expectations and expected practice within an agreed ethical framework 

and risk appetite. 

The appointments process of the ESB is unclear.  UK & WG along with the Internal Review 

team have been unable to gain clarity over the shortlisting of applications and who 

determined the recommended ESB appointments to the Joint Committee in August 2018.  

The lack of openness and transparency over the process in respect of these appointments 

has undermined the trust of UK & WG.  

The Joint Scrutiny Committee has only met twice.  At the second meeting the Vice Chair of 

the Joint Scrutiny Committee gave his apologies for the meeting as he had a conflict of 

interest arising from an arrangement to secure access to information.  The matter was 

reported in the media and has undermined confidence within the Partnership.  

Consultation & Engagement 

The expectations and timescales for engagement and formal consultation are unclear; 

however the review did not involve substantive testing of this area.  Communication and 

marketing as part of the SBCD has been recorded since February 2018.  There was evidence 

of early high-level promotional activities to stimulate private sector interest in the SBCD.  

There was also evidence of local consultation and engagement activity in relation to the 

Llanelli Life Science & Wellbeing Village project.   

8. Core Principle C 
Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, societal & environmental benefits. 

Expected Actions & Behaviours: clear vision and defined outcomes sustainable & 
deliverable within available resources. 

Areas for Improvement: robust implementation plan that identifies the required 
resources, to which all Partners are committed to and can sustain. 

 

Defining Outcomes 

The Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy 2013-2030 sets out the 

framework to support South West Wales and its future economic development. The SBCD 

proposal was based on the theme of the Internet Coast, which aimed to put the region at 

the forefront of the digital age and fourth industrial revolution; where value is created by 

knowledge extracted from vast data sources.  In October 2016, Swansea University 

appraised the potential impact of the Internet Coast through the portfolio of Project 

Proposals within the SBCD.  Job creation and Gross Value Added are the desired outcomes 

on which the SBCD is based.  In order to demonstrate how these outcomes will be achieved 

the Treasury Five Case Model is used. 

The Implementation Plan for the SBCD Programme was approved by the Joint Committee in 

August 2018 but has yet to be approved by UK & WG.  Discussion with UK & WG confirmed 

that in order to approve the Implementation Plan they require a credible Programme risk 

Page 70



Page | 13  
 

register, financial plan and prioritisation of projects.  The Internal Review identified the 

same concerns regarding the Implementation Plan.  

The current business case approval process involves development of the business case and 

presentation to the Programme Board for consideration, albeit this is presented at a high-

level, not the detailed written business case.  The Regional Office will engage in an iterative 

process with UK & WG to ensure that full business cases have the best chance of approval 

when formally submitted.  This stage is causing a bottleneck and frustrating all parties.  

Appendix B provides a summary of the correspondence between UK & WG and the Regional 

Office in respect of the three Business Cases that were presented to the Joint Committee in 

November 2018; this demonstrates that the process defined in the JCA is not being 

followed.   Business cases are presented to UK & WG prematurely resulting in UK & WG 

undertaking due diligence checks they would expect the Regional Office to have 

undertaken, which is further frustrating the process.  

There is a disconnect between the project concept and the written business case.  There is a 

degree of confidence in the deliverability of outcomes for certain projects, however, written 

business cases reviewed lack clarity on the economic, commercial and financial cases.  

Business cases are too long; they are repetitive and can appear more as marketing material 

than as an evaluation of the critical success factors of projects.    Discussions with Members 

of the Joint Committee identified mixed views on the confidence and deliverability of the 

Programme as a whole, but there was a degree of confidence in their individual projects.  

There was general support for the deliverability of the Homes as Power Stations project, 

along with securing of Private Sector funding to deliver the project, however, the business 

case has not progressed and there is no clarity over the detailed funding arrangements for 

regional projects.   

There is confusion within the region over the Yr Egin project.  The opinion of UK & WG is 

that focus has been on the Phase 1 development, which is complete and has a high 

occupancy rate; however, Phase 2 was the original SBCD project. Phase 1 has now been 

included as part of the SBCD as there was a shortfall in funding.  

Business cases need to be streamlined, there is too much information to be scrutinised 

locally and it is over and above the information required by UK & WG; this is a contributing 

factor to the delays in progressing projects.  

Commitment & Sustainability 

Government funding of the SBCD will be paid over a 15-year period.  In order to deliver the 

projects within five years, Local Authorities will have to borrow to finance the Government 

funding.  At this early stage of development of the regional projects there is no clarity over 

the borrowing requirements (values) and how this will be delivered by the Lead Authorities.  

There is a risk that Local Authorities will not support the proposed borrowing requirements 

(although the principal is included within the JCA) which could result in abortive work and 

wasted resource in developing these projects.   

Page 71



Page | 14  
 

There is a lack of clarity over the funding and borrowing arrangements to support delivery of 

the SBCD.  WG have agreed to Local Authorities receiving 50% NNDR generated from the 

Programme, however, the apportionment and distribution of this revenue has not been 

determined.  The likely return on NNDR will be an influencing factor in determining the 

affordability of borrowing that Local Authorities will be willing to accept, so there is a 

pressing need to determine this promptly.  

In order to continue to draw down Government funding over the 15-years of the SBCD, the 

Programme will need to be able to demonstrate that it is delivering the intended outcomes.  

The monitoring and evaluation process, which is currently under development, will need to 

be robust.  Consideration should also be given to contingency arrangements should funding 

be withdrawn at a later date. 

9. Core Principle D 
Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended 
outcomes. 

Expected Actions & Behaviours: strategic, operational and financial planning of projects; 
prioritising projects for delivery; objective and rigorous analysis of projects including an 
assessment of intended outcomes and risks. 

Areas for Improvement: the JCA defined process for analysing projects is not operating as 
intended; the implementation plan needs to be prioritised and supported by a financial 
plan and programme risk register. 

 

Determining Interventions 

The JCA outlines the stages and responsibility for developing, appraising and approving 

business cases.  There is a five-stage process to approving business cases for formal 

submission to UK & WG.  Meetings with Members of the Joint Committee, Programme 

Board and the Chair of the ESB, along with a review of correspondence between the 

Regional Office and UK & WG identified that the process is not operating as intended.  

Delivery Lead 

Clause 12.3 (a) within the JCA outlines the responsibility of the Delivery Lead and the 

requirement to include a Resolution of the Project Lead Authority (and all Councils if 

delivering a regional project) when submitting a business case to the Regional Office.  This 

process isn’t being followed.  Business Cases are referred back to the Project Lead Authority 

after approval has been received by the Joint Committee.   

Iterative Process 

Clause 12.3 (d) within the JCA outlines the role of the Regional Office in assessing the quality 

and financial profile of business cases before passing to UK & WG for them to undertake 

their own assessments.  A review of business cases passed to UK & WG at this stage 

identified the following:  

 

Page 72



Page | 15  
 

 Business cases lacking in the detail required by the 5 Case Model;  

 Seemingly unnecessary information included; 

 Incomplete sections;  

 Lack of clarity around economic, commercial and financial cases.  

 

Feedback to the Internal Review team reflected frustration within the Region on the delays 

with the iterative process and the comments/feedback from UK & WG.  However, the 

comments and feedback from UK & WG were deemed to be reasonable and necessary by 

the Internal Review team.  

 

Programme Board 

The JCA expectation is that Programme Board would analyse the financial viability, 

deliverability and risk of the proposed business case and make a recommendation on 

whether or not the business case should proceed.  It is expected that there would be 

challenge at this stage around the due diligence processes undertaken.     

In reality, the Programme Board receive an update against all projects, similar to the update 

provided to the Joint Committee; there is no detailed review of the written business case or 

compliance with processes and procedures.  Membership of the Programme Board is at the 

highest officer level, so they are unlikely to have capacity to deliver the time commitment 

required for this level of scrutiny and challenge.  

Economic Strategy Board (ESB) 

The ESB is expected to review the business cases from the private sector perspective, 

against the strategic aims and objectives of the SBCD and make a recommendation to the 

Joint Committee on whether or not the business case should proceed.   

The ESB, having only met a few times, is still establishing the format of meetings and 

information required to provide a value-added function.  The ESB considers the concept, 

they do not review the written business case; they undertake site visits and meet with 

Project Leads.  The ESB have requested a SWOT analysis for the projects they are 

considering, using their commercial expertise to identify wider opportunities for the Region 

and determine if there are any threats that require further consideration. 

ESB membership comprises of Private Sector Representatives, the four Leaders of the Local 

Authorities, and representatives from the Local Health Boards and Universities.  The 

purpose of including the Leaders of the Local Authorities on the ESB is unclear and doesn’t 

add value.  The ESB has no decision-making powers, their purpose is to look at wider 

opportunities and stimulate confidence and interest in inward investment to the Region.  

The ESB could provide UK & WG with the confidence that they are currently lacking around 

the economic and commercial viability of business cases.  Consideration should be given to 

the mechanism for providing this assurance, e.g. a covering brief for submission with the full 

business case.  

Page 73



Page | 16  
 

Discussion with the Chair of the ESB on the three full business cases previously considered 

and then approved by the Joint Committee (22 November 2018) for formal submission to 

UK & WG, identified the following: 

 The ESB had confidence in Phase 1 of Yr Egin but had reservations around the economic 

and commercial case of Phase 2;  

 The ESB had queried where the private sector investment was coming from for the 

Llanelli Life Sciences & Wellbeing Village project but did not receive answers;   

 The ESB raised questions of the Swansea City & Waterfront Digital District project in 

connection with transportation infrastructure. 

 

Joint Committee 

Joint Committee receive the full business cases for consideration and approval to submit to 

UK & WG.  The business cases are extensive documents and in practice it is questionable 

whether the Joint Committee Members have time to read them in any detail.  Reliance is 

placed on the process, as defined within the JCA, that the business case is expected to have 

been through, i.e. iterative process with UK & WG, Programme Board and ESB; however, as 

demonstrated above, the process is not operating as intended and cannot be relied upon. 

10. Core Principle E 

Developing the Partnerships capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 
individuals within it. 

Expected Actions & Behaviours: distinction between roles and responsibilities; 
specification of delegated decisions versus those reserved for the Joint Committee; 
reviewing operations, resources and performance to ensure effectiveness. 

Areas for Improvement: independence, capacity and capability of the Regional Office to 
deliver the Project Management Office function. 

 

Capacity & Capability 

Carmarthenshire County Council’s staff have largely fulfilled the function of the Regional 

Office.  Although a structure was costed and approved by the Joint Committee at its 

meeting in August 2018, positions have not been substantively filled, but duties have been 

covered by existing Carmarthenshire County Council employees.  The Internal Review team 

were advised that three new appointments were made to the Regional Office.   

The expectation of UK & WG was that the Regional Office (as the SBCD Delivery Team) 

would fulfil the role of the Project Management Office for the SBCD.  In reality, the Project 

Leads are expected to undertake their own due diligence checks and reliance is placed on 

individual Lead Authorities to ensure that this is done.  The Regional Office are supposed to 

act as the link between the Project Leads and UK & WG, however, there have been 

instances where the Regional Office have been bypassed.  There are only three regional 

projects, so if reliance is placed on the individual Local Authorities it is unclear why eleven 

posts are required (not all substantively filled) in the Regional Office.  

Page 74



Page | 17  
 

To date neither the Implementation Plan nor any business cases have been signed-off.  

Feedback from the Regional Office and Members of the Joint Committee do not accord with 

the feedback from UK & WG, so there is clearly a communication breakdown between 

parties.  A review of the feedback on business cases to the Regional Office from UK & WG 

concluded that the questions were reasonable and should be raised.  Due to the timescales 

to deliver this review, substantive testing was not undertaken to form any conclusions in 

this report.  

The Heads of Terms makes reference to the SBCD Delivery Team, which is the function 

undertaken by the Regional Office.  The Heads of Terms makes reference to the SBCD City 

Deal Delivery Team being appointed and reporting to the Joint Committee.  Clause 9.2 

within the JCA states that the ‘Joint Committee shall designate the Head of Paid Service of 

the Accountable Body as Lead Chief Executive to act as its principal adviser and as 

Accountable Officer to manage and oversee the work of the Regional Office staff’.  This 

clause compromises the independence of the Regional Office who are expected to report 

through the Lead Chief Executive, who is also the Head of Paid Service.  

Members of the Joint Committee have questioned whether an independent Chief 

Executive/Managing Director should manage the Regional Office.  While this could be an 

option, the success of this will be heavily dependent on the skills and capability of the 

candidate to ensure that they have the ability to challenge at all levels within the 

Partnership and with UK & WG and receive challenge while remaining independent and 

objective.  In any event there will be a reporting line to one of the Local Authority Chief 

Executives as Head of Paid Service; however, the role of employer of the Regional Office and 

role of Lead Chief Executive should be separated (as with other Regional working 

arrangements), to promote the independence of the Regional Office.  

11. Core Principle F 

Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong financial 
management. 

Expected Actions & Behaviours: integrating robust risk management arrangements; 
monitoring delivery of the Programme and effective scrutiny arrangements. 

Areas for Improvement: risk management, performance management and the role of the 
Joint Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Risk Management 

Risk management arrangements require improvement.  Risks are not clearly articulated to 

describe the event, consequence and impact.  There is no consistent risk management 

methodology used across the Partnership.  No consideration has been given to the overall 

risk appetite of the Partnership and articulated into any statement.  The Programme risk 

register should be a true reflection of the current risks to the delivery of the Programme and 

should be a regular agenda item for consideration by the Joint Committee, but there is no 

evidence that this is happening.  This is a significant contributing factor to the lack of 

confidence by UK & WG in the delivery of the Programme.  

Page 75



Page | 18  
 

Managing Performance/Scrutiny 

The issues highlighted above demonstrate the lack of performance management and 

scrutiny of business case development that is currently undertaken, which again is reflective 

of why the Implementation Plan and business cases are not progressing to sign-off stage so 

that Government funding can be drawn down. 

The Joint Scrutiny Committee has formed, but the Terms of Reference restrict their remit to 

scrutiny of Regional projects, scrutiny of individual Authority projects are a matter for the 

relevant Constituent Authorities Scrutiny Committee.  This detracts from the Regional 

approach of the SBCD.   

 

  

Page 76



Page | 19  
 

Appendix A – Summary of Meetings/Discussions with Stakeholders 

Regional Office 

UK & WG Civil Servants: (Head of Regional Growth, UK Government in Wales; Head of 

Policy, UK Government in Wales; Deputy Director, Head of Cabinet Office, Welsh 

Government; Deputy Director, Commercial and PPM, Welsh Government; Chief Regional 

Officer, Mid and South West Wales, Welsh Government; Head of Programme for 

Government, Welsh Government; Head of City and Growth Deals, (Mid and South West 

Wales), Welsh Government). 

Chair of the Joint Committee (Leader of City and County of Swansea Council) 

Director of Place, City and County of Swansea Council 

Leader of Pembrokeshire County Council 

Chief Executive of Pembrokeshire County Council 

Chair of UBMA Health Board 

Leader of Neath Port Talbot County and Borough Council 

Chief Executive of Neath Port Talbot County and Borough Council 

Chair of Joint Scrutiny Committee  

Vice Chair of Joint Scrutiny Committee  

Chair of Hywel Dda Health Board 

Leader of Carmarthenshire County Council 

Chief Executive of Carmarthenshire County Council 

Chair of the ESB 

Registrar and Chief Operating Officer of Swansea University 

Pro- Vice Chancellor, University of Wales Trinity St Davids 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 151 Officer 

  

Page 77



Page | 20  
 

Appendix B – Summary of Correspondence between the Regional Office and 

UK & WG (Governments) in relation to the 3 full business case submissions 

and submissions to the ESB and Joint Committee 

Swansea City & Waterfront Digital District Business Case 

 

Date Action 

04/01/18 Draft Business Case sent to Governments  

15/02/18 Comments received from Governments  

04/04/18 
Response to comments and revised business case shared with Governments 
(advised by RO) 

18/05/18 Comments received from Governments 

19/07/18 Draft Business Case sent to Governments  

05/11/18 
Governments sent comments back and stated meeting required to discuss 
Economic case 

08/11/18 Draft Business Case submitted to ESB – full approval given 

12/11/18 Regional office acknowledged and agreed requirement for meeting 

15/11/18 Governments provided potential dates for meeting 

19/11/18 Regional office stated 27/11/18 to be best date for meeting 

21/11/18 Response to comments sent to Governments 

22/11/18 Joint Committee approved Business Case 

26/11/18 Business Case formally submitted to Governments for approval 

27/11/18 Meeting held 

27/11/18 Governments provided written comments on Economic case 

29/11/18 Additional information provided to Governments 

21/12/18 
Updated Business Case submitted to Governments (though Governments 
state that original not withdrawn and update does not include Economic case 
changes) 

21/12/18 Further meeting planned for 14/01/19 to discuss 

 

Yr Egin Business Case 

 

Date Action 

15/12/17 Draft Business Case shared with Governments 

12/04/18 Comments received from Governments 

03/08/18 Draft Business Case sent to Governments 

31/10/18 Governments sent comments back 

08/11/18 Draft Business Case submitted to ESB – full approval given 

22/11/18 Joint Committee approved Business Case 

26/11/18 
Business Case formally submitted to Governments for approval (Governments 
state that this was exactly the same as the submission on 03/08/18 with no 
amendments) 

Page 78



Page | 21  
 

27/11/18 

During the meeting on Digital District, Governments state a conversation was 
had around the Economic Case with David Swallow, and Governments were 
informed the Business Case had changed since submission to reflect this and 
to reflect comments provided on 31/10/18 (no e-mail evidence to support 
this) 

03/12/18 
Business Case considered by Carmarthen County Council (CCC) Executive 
Board and agreed it could be submitted to UK and WG (confirmed via CCC 
website) 

 

Llanelli Life Science & Well-being Village Business Case 

 

Date Action 

15/12/17 Draft Business Case sent to Governments – no financial case included 

23/01/18 Draft Business Case resubmitted to Governments with financial case included 

08/03/18 Amended Draft Business Case sent to Governments 

23/03/18 Review meeting with Governments 

13/04/18 Economic case addendum sent to Governments 

11/06/18 Review meeting with Governments 

15/08/18 
Draft Business Case sent to Governments – including table of response to 
previous feedback 

19/10/18 
Governments sent comments back (states that this contained specific 
questions about due diligence which had not been resolved)1 

08/11/18 Draft Business Case submitted to ESB – full approval given 

16/11/18 Response to comments sent to Governments 

22/11/18 Joint Committee approved Business Case 

26/11/18 Business Case formally submitted to WG for approval 

03/12/18 
Business Case considered by Carmarthen County Council (CCC)Executive Board 
and agreed it could be submitted to UK and WG (confirmed via CCC website) 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1 WG state that numerous phone calls/offline discussions about due diligence issues were handled informally 
(no e-mail evidence to support this)  

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                  

1

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

30th April,  2019

RESPONSE TO RECOMMENDATIONS MADE BY THE JOINT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

RECOMMENDATIONS/KEY DECISIONS

That the Joint Scrutiny Committee receive and note the responses 
received 

REASONS

In order that the Joint Scrutiny Committee note the responses received 
to the correspondence issued as a result of the various reviews being 
undertaken.

OFFICER CONTACT

Mrs Karen Jones 
Assistant Chief Executive & Chief 
Digital Officer – Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council 

Telephone 01639 763284
Email: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk

Page 81

Agenda Item 4

mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



 Date Dyddiad 11 March 2019
Direct line  Rhif ffôn 01269 825767

Email  Ebost cllr.a.n.woolcock@npt.gov.uk
Contact  Cyswllt Councillor A.N.Woolcock

Your ref  Eich cyf
Our ref  Ein cyf

The Rt Hon Alun Cairns MP Minister 
for Secretary of State for Wales

 

By e-mail

Dear Mr. Cairns

RE: Swansea Bay City Region

As Chair of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny Committee, I am 
writing to you following an issue that was raised at the committee meeting 
held on Friday, 1st March, 2019. The Joint Scrutiny Committee was very 
concerned to learn of the considerable delays being experienced in 
securing agreement from the Welsh and UK governments to the full 
business cases of the projects that make up the Swansea Bay City 
Region. The Joint Scrutiny Committee notes that these delays mean that 
almost two years since the Heads of Terms were signed, no business 
cases have yet reached a point where they have been approved for 
implementation. Members of the Joint Scrutiny Committee wish to 
underline the importance of the City Region to bringing about long term, 
sustainable improvements to the well-being of people across the region 
and would like to understand what action the Welsh Government and the 
UK Government intend to take to address the causes of the delays 
inherent in the existing processes.

continued overleaf…

Page 99



I look forward to receiving your response in the near future.

Yours sincerely,

Councillor Arwyn Woolcock
Chair of the Swansea Bay City Deal Joint Scrutiny Committee

 

CC Ken Skates AM, Minister for Economy and Transport
National Assembly for Wales (via e-mail)

Councillor Sharon Freeguard C/o Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council (by e-mail) 

Councillor Alun Llewelyn C/o Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Darren Price C/o Carmarthen County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Rob James C/o Carmarthen County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Giles Morgan C/o Carmarthen County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor James Adams C/o Pembrokeshire County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Tony Baron C/o Pembrokeshire County Council 
(by e-mail)

Page 100



Councillor Michael Evans C/o Pembrokeshire County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Jan Curtice C/o City and County of Swansea 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Philip Downing C/o City and County of Swansea 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Jeff Jones City and County of Swansea 
(by e-mail)

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 Date Dyddiad 11 March 2019
Direct line  Rhif ffôn 01269 825767

Email  Ebost cllr.a.n.woolcock@npt.gov.uk
Contact  Cyswllt Councillor A.N.Woolcock

Your ref  Eich cyf
Our ref  Ein cyf

Ken Skates AM
Minister for Economy and Transport
National Assembly for Wales

 

By e-mail

Dear Mr. Skates

RE: Swansea Bay City Region

As Chair of the Swansea Bay City Region Joint Scrutiny Committee, I am 
writing to you following an issue that was raised at the committee meeting 
held on Friday, 1st March, 2019. The Joint Scrutiny Committee was very 
concerned to learn of the considerable delays being experienced in 
securing agreement from the Welsh and UK governments to the full 
business cases of the projects that make up the Swansea Bay City 
Region. The Joint Scrutiny Committee notes that these delays mean that 
almost two years since the Heads of Terms were signed, no business 
cases have yet reached a point where they have been approved for 
implementation. Members of the Joint Scrutiny Committee wish to 
underline the importance of the City Region to bringing about long term, 
sustainable improvements to the well-being of people across the region 
and would like to understand what action the Welsh Government and the 
UK Government intend to take to address the causes of the delays 
inherent in the existing processes.

continued overleaf…

Page 103



I look forward to receiving your response in the near future.

Yours sincerely,

Councillor Arwyn Woolcock
Chair of the Swansea Bay City Deal Joint Scrutiny Committee

 

CC The Rt Hon Alun Cairns MP, Secretary of State for Wales (via e-
mail)

Councillor Sharon Freeguard C/o Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough Council (by e-mail) 

Councillor Alun Llewelyn C/o Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Darren Price C/o Carmarthen County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Rob James C/o Carmarthen County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Giles Morgan C/o Carmarthen County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor James Adams C/o Pembrokeshire County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Tony Baron C/o Pembrokeshire County Council 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Michael Evans C/o Pembrokeshire County Council 

Page 104



(by e-mail)

Councillor Jan Curtice C/o City and County of Swansea 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Philip Downing C/o City and County of Swansea 
(by e-mail)

Councillor Jeff Jones City and County of Swansea 
(by e-mail)

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 107



Page 108



Lee Waters AC/AM 
Dirprwy Weinidog yr Economi a Thrafnidiaeth 
Deputy Minister for Economy and Transport 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Lee.Waters@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Lee.Waters@gov.wales 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref LW/05252/19 
 
Councillor Arwyn Woolcock 

Chair 
Swansea Bay City Deal Joint Scrutiny Committee 
 

j.j.davies@npt.gov.uk 
 
 
 

29 March 2019  
 

 
 
Dear Cllr Woolcock, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 11 March to the Minister for Economy and Transport regarding 
Swansea Bay City Deal. I am responding in view of my portfolio responsibilities. 
 
I would like to say at the outset that we remain committed to working with partners to deliver 
the Swansea Bay City Region City Deal. 
 
Like you and your committee, I am keen to see rapid progress to enable the delivery of this 
deal and the long-term transformation and economic growth it will bring and we remain 
committed in principle to the projects in the heads of terms. 
 
As you will be aware, the UK and Welsh Government’s jointly commissioned an 
Independent Review into the City Deal in December last year. This was in response to our 
concerns about the progress of the deal. This review has now been published and we will 
be working with the region to implement its recommendations. We believe that these 
recommendations will help drive forward the City Deal, although a number of these are for 
the region to take decisions on. 
 
The pace of business case development has been slower than many of us would have 
liked.  We want to complete the approvals process as quickly as possible, but it is the 
responsibility of region to deliver robust evidenced business cases that government can 
appraise to ensure value for money in the use of public funds.  We have committed to 
expedite the remaining due diligence work for Yr Egin and the Swansea City Waterfront & 
Digital District as both projects are well advanced and look likely to be the first to be 
approved by government. I understand that the Joint Committee will now reconsider these 
two business cases on 28 March 2019, after which both the UK and Welsh Governments 
have committed to considering these as quickly as possible 
 

Page 109

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lee.Waters@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lee.Waters@gov.wales
mailto:j.j.davies@npt.gov.uk


The review makes clear that it is not unusual for a portfolio of this size and complexity to 
take time to establish appropriate governance and compliance arrangements and the 
review was intended to make sure that we have the best processes in place to assure us 
that public funds are protected, whilst allowing the region to innovate. There is little in the 
‘process’ that differs from accepted Best Practice.  
 
The review makes 7 recommendations all of which represent a clear way forward in 
delivering on the vision and aspirations of the City Deal and it provides a strong foundation 
upon which to move forward with delivery. The recommendations focus on improving the 
process and make several key suggestions as to how the challenging task of managing a 
complex City Deal can be improved to ensure the public money is invested wisely. Both 
governments are satisfied that these recommendations represent a sound and credible way 
forward and both recognise the value of encouraging regional working and the importance 
of clear roles and responsibilities.   
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
Lee Waters AC/AM 
Dirprwy Weinidog yr Economi a Thrafnidiaeth 
Deputy Minister for Economy and Transport 
 
 
 

Page 110



                                                                                                                  

1

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

30th April, 2019

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME AND THE FREQUENCY OF 
MEETINGS FOR 2019/20

RECOMMENDATIONS/KEY DECISIONS

That the Joint Scrutiny Committee determine its Forward Work 
Programme for 2019/20 and also the ferequency or its meetings taking 
into account that the Joint Committee now meets on a monthly basis.

REASONS

To determine the work of the Joint Scrutiny Committee for 2019/20.

OFFICER CONTACT

Mrs Karen Jones 
Assistant Chief Executive & Chief 
Digital Officer – Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council 

Telephone 01639 763284
Email: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk

Page 111

Agenda Item 5

mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME
2019 – 2020

Date Of Meeting Items for Report

30th April, 2019

Carmarthen

1. To receive feedback from the Chair of 
the joint Committee on the outcomes 
of the 4 reviews recently undertaken 

16th May,2019

Pembroke

Site Visit to Pilot Scheme in Neath 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                  

1

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

30th April,  2019

WEBCASTING

RECOMMENDATIONS/KEY DECISIONS

To determine whether meetings of the Joint Scrutiny Committee 
should be webcast.

REASONS

Not all Local Authorities involved in the City Deal Programme webcast 
their meetings.

OFFICER CONTACT

Mrs Karen Jones 
Assistant Chief Executive & Chief 
Digital Officer – Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council 

Telephone 01639 763284
Email: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk

Page 115

Agenda Item 6

mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Meeting held on 1 March 2019
	3 Update from the Chair of the Joint Committee following the conclusion of the reviews on the Swansea Bay City Deal:
	Acuity legal
	WAO Review
	Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village

	Actica Consulting Swansea Bay City Deal Independent Review Report
	20190314 SBCD Final Report

	4 Response to recommendations made by the Joint Scrutiny Committee
	Letter
	Letter2
	A.Cairns MP letter from SBCR JSC Chair 110319 v1
	K.Skates AM letter from SBCR JSC Chair 110319 v1
	CLLR. WOOLCOCK
	LW0525219_Outgoing_0

	5 To Receive the Forward Work Programme and to Determine the Frequency of meetings for 2019/20
	Work Programme SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

	6 Webcasting



